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The general public is 
concerned about the 
environmental price we 
have been paying for 
our economic growth



I	hate	forewords	since	they	are	usually	full	of	clichés,	and	
include	phrases	that	are	overused	and	often	betray	a	lack	
of	original	 thought.	Well,	 I	 do	hope	 that	 the	 following	
will	be	an	exception.	

The	following	is	the	annual	report	and	financial	statement	
of	the	Environment	and	Resources	Authority	for	2019.	
This	Authority	has	been	going	through	changes	since	its	
inception	four	years	ago.	And	likewise,	the	country’s	very	
perception	of	the	environment,	has	been	going	through	
such	changes.	 In	a	period	of	unprecedented	economic	
growth,	often	at	 the	expense	of	our	environment,	 it	 is	
not	 just	 the	usual	 and	highly	vocal	e-NGOs	which	will	
increasingly	 show	 their	 willingness	 to	 challenge	 the	
system,	 but	 also	 the	 general	 public.	 	 A	 recent	 survey	
commissioned	by	the	Authority,	clearly	shows	that	there	
is	a	growing	unease	amongst	 the	general	public	about	
the	way	we	are	taking	care	of	our	natural	environment,	
with	 more	 than	 half	 of	 the	 respondents	 thinking	 that	
we	are	indeed	not	being	sufficiently	diligent	in	our	care	
of	the	environment.	66%	clearly	showed	that	decisions	
and	policies	related	to	or	which	have	an	impact	on	our	
environmental	resources	should	be	in	balance	with	the	
country’s	 economic	 needs.	 For	 example,	 90%	 of	 the	
respondents	 are	 of	 the	 opinion	 that	 the	 construction	
industry	 should	 be	 controlled	 according	 to	 our	
environmental	needs	and	constraints.	In	simpler	words,	
the	general	public	is	concerned	about	the	environmental	
price	we	have	been	paying	for	our	economic	growth.
 

Foreword

Our	 politicians	will	 need	 to	 give	 full	 considerations	 to	
these	concerns	and	aspirations	of	our	changing	society.	
We	have	to	learn	to	live	well	within	our	ecological	limits.	
And,	if	you	think	that	this	is	just	another	cliché	you	will	
do	so	at	your	own	risk.	And	yes,	 it	 is	not	a	question	of	
a	 fair	 balance	 between	 our	 economy	 and	 our	 natural	
environment.	 A	 balance	 implies	 a	 compromise,	 and	
compromises	 rarely	 work.	 It	 is	 the	 very	 basis	 of	 our	
economic	systems	which	need	to	change.	Planning	and	
environmental	 policies	 need	 to	 provide	 the	 necessary	
limits	 within	 which	 our	 economic	 needs	 are	 satisfied.	
As	 has	 been	 said	 elsewhere:	 Our	 production	 and	
consumption	systems	are	based	on	consumerism	fueled	
by	quantity-driven	profits	and	growth	measured	by	GPD.	
One	will	not	reach	the	goal	by	walking	faster	if	walking	in	
the	wrong	direction.

I	 sincerely	 believe	 and	 hope	 that	 the	 Authority	 is	
doing	 its	 best,	 in	 many	 cases,	 against	 many	 odds,	 to	
facilitate	 the	 required	 transition	 to	 a	more	 sustainable	
economy	and	society.	And,	constructive	criticism	of	the	
Authority’s	operations	is	healthy	and	indeed	welcomed.		
Even	 our	 younger	 staff	 are	 becoming	 aware	 of	 this.		
In	 the	 meantime,	 I	 take	 this	 opportunity	 to	 thank	
wholeheartedly	ERA’s	workforce,	both	professional	and	
support	staff,	who	often	go	beyond	the	call	of	duty	 in	
their	 efforts	 to	 protect	 our	 biodiversity,	 	 our	 air	 and	
water	quality,	and	to	fulfil	our	national	and	international	
obligations.

Prof.	Victor	Axiak	-	Chairman
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During this year, 
work continued in 
order to develop 
a comprehensive 
number of laws 
and policies



CEO’s Report

This	 is	the	fourth	year,	that	this	Annual	report	 is	being	
published.	 Definitely,	 these	 first	 years	 have	 been	 full	
of	 challenges	 and	 achievements	 to	 the	 Authority.	
A	 challenge	 which	 persisted	 in	 2019	 was	 that	 of	
lack	 of	 human	 resources,	 and	 lack	 of	 a	 Management	
Information	System	which	will	 facilitate	the	operations	
of	 the	 Authority.	 On	 the	 other	 hand,	 with	 regards	
to	 achievements	 one	 has	 to	 say	 that	 despite	 these	
challenges	 the	Authority	 as	 a	 team	 continues	 to	 look	
forward	and	work	to	give	a	good	service	to	the	public	
and	also	honour	its	regulatory	role.

In	 fact,	 during	 this	 year,	 work	 continued	 in	 order	 to	
develop	a	comprehensive	number	of	laws	and	policies,	to	
participate	to	International	and	European	conferences,	to	
deal	with	various	stakeholders	and	the	public	in	general,	
and	to	increase	cooperation	with	various	Governmental	
entities.	 Such	 interaction	 takes	 place	 in	various	 forms,	
and	in	order	to	be	more	accessible,	during	this	year	the	
Authority	developed	new	IT	solutions	to	better	service	
the	general	public	and	interested	stakeholders.	Together	
with	this,	extensive	work	has	been	carried	out	to	create	
and	develop	a	more	proficient	website	for	the	Authority.	
All	 these	 technological	 tools	 will	 be	 launched	 in	 the	
beginning	of	next	year.

Throughout	 this	 year	 work	 continued	 to	 strengthen	
the	compliance	and	enforcement	arm	of	the	Authority.	
Specific	 training	 courses	 were	 organized,	 and	 further	

investment	in	equipment	and	devices	was	made	in	order	
to	 ameliorate	 the	 functions	 of	 such	 an	 important	 task	
force	within	 the	Authority.	 These	 efforts	 complement	
and	oversee	that	the	always	increasing	number	of	permits	
being	granted	by	the	Authority	to	various	operators	are	
being	adhered	to.	

Operational	work	 focusing	 towards	 reaching	 set	 goals	
and	 vision	 do	 not	 function	 in	 a	 vacuum.	They	 require	
the	 support	 of	 a	 proper	 administrative	 structure.	
The	 Corporate	 Services	 Directorate,	 during	 this	
year	 continued	 to	 work	 on	 the	 refurbishment	 of	 the	
Authority’s	 offices	 and	 infrastructure,	 whereby	 a	 new	
Boardroom	 was	 inaugurated	 whilst	 works	 continued	
on	 the	 refurbishment	 of	 the	 offices.	 Furthermore,	 this	
year	saw	the	finalization	of	two	Collective	Agreements	
for	ERA’s	employees.	Definitely,	such	achievements	are	
just	the	beginning	of	a	number	of	others	that	have	yet	to	
materialize.		In	fact,	the	Authority	is	in	the	final	stages	to	
launch	a	more	comprehensive	MIS	system	to	outreach	
the	public,	the	various	entities,	and	significantly	enhance	
the	efficiency	of	the	Authority.

This	 third	 full	 year	 has	 been	 a	 dynamic	 one	 where	
ideas,	plans	and	strategies	patterned	out	for	the	better	
functioning	of	the	Authority	started	to	take	shape	and	
materialize.	This	definitely	thanks	to	the	hard	work	of	all	
the	top	management	and	staff	within	the	Authority.	

Dr	Louise	Spiteri
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Dr Joseph Gatt
Board Secretary 

Prof. Victor Axiak
Chairperson

Ms Carmen Buttigieg
Vice-Chairperson

Prof. Alfred Vella
Independent Member

Prof Alan Deidun
Independent Member

Mr Franco Farrugia
Independent Member
(appointed on the 1st August 2019)

Ms Paula Grech Bonnici
Independent Member

Dr Helga Buttigieg
Independent Member 
(resigned end of June 2019)

Ms Alexia Pisani
Independent Member

Dr Jason Bonnici
Independent Member

Mr Alan Pulis
Public Officer

Eng. Simon Mizzi 
Member nominated 
by the Opposition



The	ERA	Board	was	set	up	through	Act	1	of	2016	which	
came	into	force	on	the	31st	January,	2016	by	virtue	of	
Legal	Notice	50	of	2016,	 and	 comprises	 the	 following	
members:	

Chairperson
Prof.	Victor	Axiak

Vice-Chairperson 
Ms	Carmen	Buttigieg

Independent Members
Prof.	Alfred	Vella
Ms	Alexia	Pisani
Dr	Jason	Bonnici
Prof	Alan	Deidun
Ms	Paula	Grech	Bonnici
Dr	Helga	Buttigieg	(resigned	end	of	June	2019)
Mr	Franco	Farrugia	(appointed	on	the	1st	August	2019	
and	 attended	 first	 meeting	 on	 the	 6th	 of	 September	
2019)

Public Officers
Mr	Alan	Pulis

Members nominated by the Opposition
Eng.	Simon	Mizzi	

Board Secretary 
Dr	Joseph	Gatt	

The Environment 
and Resources 
Authority Board

The	ERA	Board	members	are	appointed	by	the	Minister	
in	terms	of	Article	6	of	the	Environment	Protection	Act	
(Chapter	549	of	the	Laws	of	Malta)	and	shall	serve	for	a	
period	of	three	years	if	not	otherwise	determined	in	the	
relative	letter	of	appointment.
 
The	 ERA	Board	 is	 composed	 of	 ten	 (10)	 persons:	 two	
(2)	 public	 officers	 representing	 the	 Government,	 one	
of	 whom	 has	 experience	 or	 qualifications	 in	 matters	
concerning	 the	 environment,	 and	 another	 who	 was	
experience	 or	 qualifications	 in	 matters	 concerning	
environmental	health	or	social	policy;	six	(6)	independent	
members	 who	 are	 chosen	 from	 amongst	 persons	 of	
known	 integrity,	 one	of	whom	with	 knowledge	of	 and	
experience	in	the	Environmental	Voluntary	Organisations	
sector	and	who	shall	be	nominated	by	the	said	Voluntary	
Organisations;	one	(1)	member	nominated	by	the	Leader	
of	the	Opposition.	

Among	 other	 functions	 and	 responsibilities,	 the	 ERA	
Board	oversees	and	ensures	that	the	following	functions	
are	carried	out	in	an	efficient	and	professional	manner:

•	 The	 formulation	 and	 implementation	 of	 policies	
relating	 to	 the	 protection	 and	 management	 of	 the	
environment	 and	 the	 sustainable	 management	 of	
natural	resources;	

•	 The	 carrying	 out	 and	 commissioning	 of	 surveys,	
studies,	 assessments,	 investigations,	 audits,	
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monitoring	and	promoting	of	research	on	any	matter	
relating	to	the	environment	and	the	natural	resources;

•	 Provision	 of	 information	 and	 issuing	 of	 guidelines	
to	 the	 public	 and	 to	 commercial	 and	 other	 entities	
on	matters	relating	to	the	environment	and	the	said	
natural	resources;

•	 The	establishment	of	measures	for	the	protection	of	
the	environment	and	promotion	of	the	efficient	use	
of	 natural	 resources	 in,	 and	 through,	 the	 practices,	
operations,	 activities	 and	 functions	 regulated	 by	
the	Environment	Protection	Act	(Chapter	549	of	the	
Laws	of	Malta);

•	 Ensuring	 that	 national	 and	 international	 obligations	
relative	 to	 the	 matters	 regulated	 by	 or	 under	 the	
Environment	 Protection	 Act	 come	 into	 force	 and	
complied	with;

•	 Permits,	assesses,	investigates,	audits,	monitors,	and	
takes	 action	 on,	 any	 activity,	 intervention,	 project,	
operation	or	land	use	that	may	have	an	effect	on	the	
environment;

•	 Advises	the	Minister	responsible	for	the	environment	
on	international	legislation	and	on	the	formulation	of	
national	policy	in	relation	to	matters	regulated	by	the	
Environment	Protection	Act	and	on	matters	having	a	
bearing	on	this;

•	 Advises	the	Minister	on	any	matter	connected	with	
its	functions	under	the	Environment	Protection	Act;

•	 Carrying	out,	reviewing	or	requesting	others	to	carry	
out	 environmental	 assessments,	 environmental	
audits	 and	 environmental	 monitoring	 of	 activities	
and	works	having	an	impact	on	the	environment.	

Main 2019 objectives including number of meetings 
and public consultations
During	the	period	from	January	to	December	2019,	the	
ERA	Board	held	twenty-six	(26)	meetings.	Two	meetings	
were	held	 in	public	 as	 follows:	On	 the	6th	September	
2019,	IP001/19	for	Sterling	Chemical	was	discussed	and	
decided	upon.	On	the	6th	of	December	2019,	IP001/13	
for	DDE	Attard	to	operate	a	waste	management	facility	
at	Luqa	was	discussed	and	decided	upon.

01



As	 anticipated,	 2019	 was	 not	 less	 challenging	 than	
earlier	 years,	 and	 saw	 considerable	 advances	 in	 many	
fields	of	work	which	the	Directorate	handles.

In	 relation	 to	 policy,	 2019	 saw	 the	 concluding	 works	
on	 major	 activities	 of	 the	 Directorate	 in	 relation	 to	
national	 strategies	 and	 policies.	The	 first	 phase	 of	 the	
National	 Strategy	 for	 the	 Environment	 was	 launched	
with	consultation	processes	on	its	 intent	and	vision	up	
to	 2050,	 with	 the	 background	 work	 on	 the	 different	
scenarios	 to	 assess,	 roping	 in	 public	 attitude	 surveys,	
scientific	advice	and	experts.

On	the	basis	of	the	needs	expressed	 in	public	attitude	
surveys	and	ERA’s	commitments	and	business	plan,	the	
Directorate	 focused	 the	 main	 activity	 areas	 for	 policy	
development	 and	 implementation	 to	 address	 such	
needs.	 	 In	this	respect,	also	noting	the	needs	for	more	
environmental	information	to	assist	in	decision	making,	
we	also	developed	the	Maltese	Environmental	Platform	
and	 Services	 (MEPS),	 a	 new	 geospatial	 database	
platform	ensuring	availability	of	updated	easily	available	
environmental	 data	 to	 the	 general	 public	 and	 entities	
alike.	The	beta	version	was	 finalised	 in	2019,	with	 the	
system	planned	to	be	launched	to	complement	the	new	
ERA	website.

In	 terms	 of	 legal	 protection,	 we	 strengthened	 the	
environmental	 risk	 assessment	 process	 linked	 with	
the	 deliberate	 release	 of	 GMOs	 (genetically-modified	
organisms)	and	enhanced	the	nature	protection	powers	
of	 the	 Authority,	 enabling	 better	 protection	 and	
management	of	our	biodiversity.	This	also	included	the	
declaration	 of	 additional	 protected	 species,	 including	
wild	 orchids	 and	 corals,	 and	 the	 designation	 of	 new	
protected	areas,	including	four	new	Natura	2000	sites.

The	 effort	 on	 assessment	 and	 permitting	 was	 also	
astounding,	 with	 a	 net	 increase	 relative	 to	 earlier	
years.	 More	 than	 8,200	 applications	 were	 vetting	 as	
part	 of	 the	 planning	 or	 transport-related	 consultation	
process,	 of	 which	 about	 3,000	were	 assessed	 further	
due	to	environmental	 relevance.	The	figure	rises	up	to	
more	than	10,000	applications	processed	in	relation	to	
environmental	permitting	process!

Throughout	 2019,	 the	Directorate	 also	 led	 on	various	
implementation	tasks,	including	various	activities	linked	
with	 site	 management,	 with	 actions	 involving	 clean-
ups	 and	 removal	 of	 massive	material	 dumped	 illegally	
from	 protected	 areas,	 including	 fly-tipping	 as	 well	 as	
construction	 and	 demolition	 waste,	 as	 well	 as	 works	
related	 with	 the	 removal	 of	 pressures	 and	 threats	 on	
sites,	habitats	and	species,	including:	clean-ups;	removal	
and	control	of	invasive	alien	species;	afforestation	works,	

01Environment 
and Resources 
Directorate
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growth	of	new	species;	mapping	of	species	and	habitats	
and	an	assessment	of	 their	status;	site	 restoration	and	
propagation	 of	 threatened	 and	 protected	 species;	
installation	of	signage	and	information	material;	access	
limitation	in	areas	subject	to	off-roading;	as	well	as	the	
organisation	of	outreach	events.

Such	work	is	also	possible	in	relation	to	the	coordination	
efforts	and	needs	to	ensure	implementation	of	projects.	
This	Directorate	has	also	lead	EU-funded	projects,	which	
address	various	issues	ranging	from	marine	monitoring,	
marine	 litter,	 site	 management,	 waste	 management,	
water	management,	alien	species	and	capacity-building	
on	environmental	permitting	and	compliance.

Overall,	we	understand	that	in	order	to	continue	in	this	
work,	 more	 capacity-building	 is	 required,	 also	 noting	
emerging	environmental	issues.	However,	we	hope	and	
strive	to	ensure	that	our	work	in	2019	will	enable	further	
actions	and	work	in	the	years	to	come,	to	better	address	
all	emerging	issues	and	ensure	appropriate	environmental	
management	and	protection	and	the	promotion	of	our	
wellbeing;	 this	 is	 particularly	 relevant,	 also	noting	 that	
most	of	the	work	this	year	is	part	of	ongoing	processes	
and	builds	on	the	work	done	in	earlier	years.

1.1 Environmental Assessment Unit (EAU)
The	unit	is	responsible	for	ERA’s	assessment	of	proposed	
development	commitments	at	plan	and	project	level,	to	
avoid	 or	 mitigate	 adverse	 environmental	 impacts.	 The	
unit’s	contribution	during	2019	is	summarised	below:

1.1.1 Plan-level assessments and strategic follow-ups
•	 In	 2019,	 the	 Environment	 Assessment	 Unit	 (EAU)	
reviewed around	 40	 draft	 plans,	 policies	 and	
strategies	 of	 potential	 environmental	 relevance.	 It	
also	 continued	 to	 screen	 draft	 plans/policies	 for	
plan-level	AA	requirements	in	line	with	the	Habitats	
Directive,	 and	 coordinated	 ERA’s	 role	 as	 statutory	
consultee	 in	 the	 SEA	 process.	 In	 particular,	 EAU	
was	a	key	contributor	in	the	scoping	and	preliminary	
sieving	for	the	Appropriate	Assessment	and	Strategic	
Environmental	Assessment	related	to	the	Solar	Farms	
Policy.

•	 ERA’s	 online	 SEA	 database	 (https://era.org.mt/en/
Pages/ERA-SEA-Responses.aspx)	 continued	 to	 be	
updated	regularly	to	ensure	that	ERA’s	SEA	comments	
are	 publicly	 available.	 In	 view	 of	 the	 envisaged	
overhaul	of	ERA’s	website,	the	unit	was	also	engaged	
in	the	updating	and	migration	of	records.

•	 The	 Unit	 finalised	 its	 internal	 audit	 on	 ERA’s	
consultation	 responses	 to	 development	
applications,	 and	 made	 detailed	 recommendations	
for	 improvements.	 Other	 audits	 and	 reports	 were	
also	 finalised	 during	 2019,	 focusing	 on:	 (i)	 the	
environmental	 relevance	 of	 particular	 planning	
designations	 and	 site	 constraints;	 and	 (ii)	 the	
approaches	 adopted	 for	 handling	 representations	
on	 plans	 and	 policies.	Another	 detailed	 analysis	 on	
rationalisation	sites	was	also	initiated.	

•	 EAU	 continued	 streamlining	 ERA’s	 engagement	 in	
development	 applications,	 such	 as	 the	optimisation	
of	 procedures	 on	 environmental	 assessment	 and	
internal	 consultation,	 and	 by	 finalising:	 	 ‘safety	
net’	 safeguards	 for	 development	 permits	 in	 the	
development	zone,	intended	for	direct	application	by	
the	Planning	Authority	as	part	of	its	standard	permit	
conditions;	and	other	specimen	development	permit	
conditions	 to	 facilitate	 ERA’s	 bespoke	 planning	
responses.	

•	 The	processes	for	addressing	plan-level	consultations,	
including	 Local	 Plan	 revisions,	 continued	 to	 be	
optimised	 to	 improve	 integration	 of	 environmental	
considerations	in	planning	policies.	

•	 The	 Unit	 continued	 to	 contribute	 to	 the	 further	
improvement	of	the	information	system	(MIS)	for	PA	
consultations,	 following	up	 further	 on	 the	 initiative	

https://era.org.mt/en/Pages/ERA-SEA-Responses.aspx
https://era.org.mt/en/Pages/ERA-SEA-Responses.aspx
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undertaken	 in	 2018	 which	 had	 become	 critically	
important	following	the	loss	of	the	Artemis	system.

1.1.2 Environmental assessment of development 
proposals
•	 During	 2019,	 the	 Unit	 vetted	 8179	 planning	
consultations,	of	which	2893	were	assessed	further	
due	 to	environmental	 relevance	 -	 e.g.	development	
in	the	countryside,	infrastructural	projects,	industrial	
or	 potentially	 polluting	 development,	 and	 projects	
with	waste	or	air	quality	implications.	These	included	
new	applications	as	well	as	reassessment	of	revised	
submissions.	 This	 figure	 represents	 a	 net	 increase	
relative	to	2018	(2251	cases),	2017	(2572	cases)	and	
2016	(1897	cases).

•	 As	from	June	2019,	ERA	started	being	consulted	by	
Transport	Malta	on	permits	for	proposed	road	works,	
trenching	operations	and	related	works,	ranging	from	
minor	localised	interventions	to	major	infrastructural	
works.	 Incoming	 applications	 were	 vetted	 and	
assessed	on	the	basis	of	environmental	relevance,	on	
same	lines	as	PA	applications.	1272	TM	cases	were	
received	by	ERA	till	the	end	of	2019.

•	 The	 Unit	 also	 continued	 to	 assess	 consultations	
on	 EU	 funded	 development,	 and	 39	 cases	 were	
processed	in	2019.

•	 As	 an	 external	 consultee	 to	 development	 consent	
regimes	 managed	 by	 other	 regulators	 (notably	 the	
Planning	Authority,	 Transport	Malta,	 and	managing	
authorities	for	development	funding	schemes),	ERA’s	
operations	 continued	 to	 be	 affected	 by	 external	
challenges	(notably:	workflow	patterns	and	caseload	

peaks,	 tight	 processing	 deadlines	 and	 case-specific	
urgencies,	 complex	 case	 histories,	 and	 significant	
limitations	in	the	information	made	available).

•	 Preliminary	 screenings	 for	 potential	 EIA	 and	 AA	
relevance	 also	 continued	 systematically	 as	 part	 of	
the	 holistic	 assessment	 of	 incoming	 development	
applications.

•	 During	2019,	ERA	continued	to	 implement	the	EIA	
Regulations	vis-a-vis	 large	or	complex	projects	 (e.g.	
highways,	 development	 on	 the	 coast,	 and	 major	
construction	 projects),	 with	 active	 EIA	 cases	 at	
various	stages:	48	PDSs,	62	detailed	EIA	screenings,	
53	cases	not	qualifying	for	an	EIA,	11	EIAs	requested,	
TORs	 for	9	 cases,	 4	 reviews	of	 consultant	 reports,	
and	 6	 final	 assessments.	 Furthermore,	 7	 of	 these	
projects	 also	 required	 formal	 AA	 screenings,	 and	
in	 4	 instances	 further	 AA	 studies	 were	 requested	
alongside	the	respective	EIA.	

•	 In	2019,	ERA	also	made	detailed	 recommendations	
for	further	optimisation	of	the	EIA	Regulations,	in	the	
light	of	feedback	received	from	the	EU	Commission.	

•	 ERA’s	 online	 EIA	 database	 (https://era.org.mt/en/
Pages/EIAprojects.aspx) also	continued	to	be	updated	
regularly	 to	 ensure	 that	 EIA	 documentation	 is	 duly	
available	 to	 the	 public.	 The	 unit	was	 also	 engaged	
in	the	updating	and	migration	of	online	EIA	records	
in	line	with	the	upcoming	reorganisation	of	the	ERA	
website.

1.2 Environment Permitting Unit (EPU)
The	 Unit	 performs	 the	 function	 of	 assessing	 and	
processing	 environmental	 permit	 applications	 ranging	

https://era.org.mt/en/Pages/EIAprojects.aspx
https://era.org.mt/en/Pages/EIAprojects.aspx
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from	 customs	 clearances	 of	 controlled	 products	 to	
operational	 permits	 for	 large	 industrial	 installations.	
Consolidation	 and	 streamlining	 of	 different	 permitting	
streams	 have	 been	 extensively	 undertaken	 and	
enhancement	 of	 internal	 permitting	 processing	
procedures	 has	 been	 carried	 out	 by	 the	 Permitting	
Unit	to	facilitate	the	application	process	for	clients	and	
to	 further	 ensure	 that	 the	 concepts	 of	 transparency	
and	 accountability	 are	 further	 enhanced.	 	 Throughout	
2019,	a	set	of	standard	operating	procedures	including	
timeframes	for	processing	different	types	of	applications	
has	also	been	adopted	so	as	to	enable	timely	and	efficient	
delivery	 of	 permitting	 processes	 whilst	 also	 allowing	
applicants	to	be	informed	on	the	steps	associated	with	
their	applications.	

Category of Permit 2017 2018 2019
IPPC (including both informal and formal public hearings)1 12 18 15
Environmental Permits2 50 84 110
Nature Permits3: 11 11 11
Total 74 113 136

1.2.1 Legislation on Environmental Permitting 
In	2019,	the	first	draft	of	the	proposed	regulations	was	
finalised	 and	 is	 currently	 undergoing	 interministerial	
consultation.	It	is	envisaged	that	such	legislation	would	
be	published	for	public	consultation	in	2020	with	the	aim	
of	publishing	the	Legal	Notice	by	the	3rd	or	4th	quarter	of	
2020.

The	possible	impacts	of	this	proposed	law	both	in	terms	
of	affected	persons	and	also	on	the	ERA`s	resources,	a	
regulatory	impact	assessment	(RIA)	was	also	undertaken	
during	2019.	The	RIA	 is	 envisaged	 to	be	 concluded	 in	
2020	 to	 ensure	 that	 such	 an	 assessment	 is	 taken	 into	
account	during	the	public	consultation	process.	

1.2.2 Processing of permits
During	 this	 reporting	 year,	 10,086	 applications	 were	
processed	 by	 the	 Permitting	 Unit,	 of	 which	 136	
applications	were	presented	and	determined	by	the	ERA	
Board,	an	increase	of	17%	over	the	previous	year	as	per	
Table	1.

The	 table	 below	 provides	 a	 detailed	 overview	 of	 all	
the	categories	of	permit	applications	processed	by	the	
Permitting	 Unit	 during	 2019	 and	 their	 determination	
(Table	2):

1.2.3 Internal Consultations 
The	 Permitting	 Unit	 is	 also	 consulted	 by	 other	 units	
within	 the	 Directorate	 on	 projects	 or	 development	
applications	where	 the	 proposals	would	 either	 require	
an	Environmental	Permit	for	their	execution	(in	part	or	
in	 full)	 or	 would	 require	 an	 Environmental	 Permit	 for	
the	 operational	 phase	 of	 the	 proposed	 development.	

Table 1

1.	 These	include	the	following	sectors:	energy,	waste	management,	pharmaceutical,chemical.
2.	 These	include	the	following	sectors:	waste	management,	quarries,	aquaculture	activities,	sewage	treatment	plants,	petrol	stations,	fuel	terminals,	

hotels,	chemical/pharma	industry,	hospitals,	VOC	handling	activities,	other	manufacturing,	shipyards	and	port	facilities.
3.	 These	include:	Nature	and	Tree	permits.
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Type of Application Determination

Type of Permit
New 

permit
Renewal Variation

Renewal & 
Variation

Surrender Extensions Granted Refused

IPPC permits - - 1 1 - 9 11 -
Environmental 
Permits

24 18 6 18 6 - 70 2

Industrial GBRs 3 - - - - - 3 -
Hull cleaning 
notifications

41 - - - - - 41 -

Waste carriers 4,413 - - - 25 - 3,893 545
Waste brokers 53 - - - - - 52 1
Animal 
Livestock 
Registration

4 7 - - - - 11 -

Nature permits 246 35 4 - - - 284 1
Tree permits 154 3 - - - - 154 3
CITES Trade 
Licences

616 - - - - - 616 -

CITES 
Clearances

3,549 - - - - - 3,549 -

CITES Article 10 184 - - - - - 184 -
CITES Import/ 
Export/re-
export permit

81 - - - - - 81 -

Consignment 
permits

439 - 12 - - - 337 114

Extended 
Producer 
Responsibility 
(Scheme 
permits)

- 3 6 5 - - 14 -

Registered 
Self-Compliant 
(Individual 
self-complaint 
producer)

25 - - - - - 25 -

Trans-frontier 
Shipment 
Permits

55 - 40 - - - 95 0

 Total 9887 66 69 24 31 9 9,420 666

Grand Total 10,086

Table 2

4.	 28	of	these	permits	were	issued	for	waste	barges.
5.	 These	include	the	following	sectors:	Packaging	waste,	Batteries	and	Accumulators	and	WEEE.
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Throughout	 2019,	 the	 Environmental	 Permitting	 Unit	
provided	its	input	and	feedback	on	847	cases.	

1.2.4 Course for Licensed tree specialists
2018	saw	the	introduction	of	new	Trees	and	Woodlands	
Regulations	 aimed	 at	 further	 protecting	 trees	 in	 the	
Maltese	 Islands,	and	 the	 introduction	of	Guidelines	on	
Works	 Involving	 Tree,	 which	 provided	 comprehensive	
good	 practice	 notes	 on	 how	 to	 carry	 out	 pruning,	
transplanting	 and	 compensatory	 planting,	 and	 how	 to	
carry	out	construction	works	without	damaging	trees.
 
The	 introduction	 of	 such	 legislation	 saw	 a	 substantial	
increase	in	the	number	of	applications	in	2018	and	2019	
as	can	be	seen	in	Figure	1.

So	as	to	further	implement	these	regulations,	2019	saw	
the	 commencement	 of	 the	 courses	 for	 tree	 specialists	
organised	 by	 MCAST	 and	 ERA.	 Attendance	 to	 such	
a	 course	 would	 make	 Persons	 carrying	 out	 works	 on	
certain	 trees	 eligible	 to	 be	 registered	 with	 ERA	 as	 a	
Licensed	 Tree	 Specialist	 under	 the	 aforementioned	
regulations.

1.2.5 CITES conference of the Parties
During	2019,	the	ERA	was	in	attendance	to	the	CITES	
Conference	 of	 Parties	 (COP)	 held	 in	 Switzerland	 in	
August	2019.	During	the	COP,	several	issues	pertaining	
to	the	trade	in	endangered	and	protected	species	were	
discussed	 in	this	 international	 forum.	Several	decisions	

were	 also	 taken	 aimed	 at	 allowing	 for	 the	 further	
protection	of	flora	and	fauna.	

1.2.6 Web applications
During	 this	 reporting	 year	 the	 Directorate,	 together	
with	 the	 Corporate	 Services	 Directorate	 has	 further	
developed	 web	 applications	 by	 working	 on	 the	
introduction	of	mobile	applications	to	further	assist	the	
public	 in	 accessing	 permitting	 applications	 remotely	
also	 through	 mobile	 devices.	 It	 is	 planned	 that	 such	
applications	would	be	launched	in	2020.	

1.3 Biodiversity and Water Unit – (BWU)
The	 Biodiversity	 &	 Water	 Unit	 fulfils	 its	 thematic	
role	 through	 the	 development	 and	 implementation	
of	 relevant	 environmental	 policy	 on	 national	 and	
international	 levels,	which	 also	 includes	 its	 application	
in	environmental	monitoring	and	reporting,	in	nationally	
and	regionally	funded	projects,	and	through	contribution	
towards	various	processes	led	by	the	Authority,	especially	
national,	 EU	 and	 international	 affairs,	 outreach	 and	
educational	activities,	and	permitting	and	assessments.
 
The	Unit	 is	 currently	 composed	 of	 three	 teams,	 these	
being:	 Strategy	 Development	 and	 Reporting;	 Nature;	
Water.	
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Figure 1
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1.3.1 Policy development and implementation
The	 Biodiversity	 &	Water	 Unit	 has	 the	 full	 or	 partial	
responsibility	 of	 various	 national,	 regional	 and	
international	 legislation,	 Directives,	 Conventions	 and	
other	 policies.	 These	 are	 especially	 in	 relation	 to	 the	
protection	of	biodiversity	and	nature,	including	species,	
habitats	and	ecosystems,	and	also	covering	the	aquatic	
and	 marine	 environments.	 The	 Unit	 also	 deals	 with	
certain	 aspects	 related	 to	 geology,	 geomorphology,	
hydrology,	landscape,	soil	and	desertification.		

In	 2019,	 the	 policy	 document	 ‘Green	 Infrastructure	
Information	 Document’	 was	 published;	 the	 ‘National	
Strategy	 for	 Preventing	 and	 Mitigating	 the	 Impact	 of	
Invasive	 Alien	 Species’	 and	 related	 ‘Codes	 of	 Good	
Practice’	were	finalised	and	shall	be	officially	published	
in	 2020;	 and	 the ‘Action	 Plan	 Addressing	 Escape	
from	 Confinement	 of	 Invasive	 Alien	 Species	 of	 Union	
Concern	 2020	 (Pets,	 Aquaria	 and	 Terrarium	 species)’	
was	published	for	consultation.	Other	policy	documents	
are	in	drafting	stage,	for	consultation	and	publication	in	
2020.	

Meanwhile,	 Regulations	 were	 issued	 for	 public	
consultation	 and	 published,	 including	 the	 Deliberate	
Release	 into	 the	 Environment	 of	 Genetically	Modified	
Organisms	 (Amendment)	Regulations;	 the	Flora,	 Fauna	
and	 Natural	 Habitats	 (Amendment)	 Regulations;	 and	
the	 Establishment	 of	 the	 Park	 Nazzjonali	 tal-Inwadar	
(Amendment)	 Regulations.	 Other	 Regulations	 were	
drafted,	for	consultation	and	publication	in	2020.

The	 ‘Conservation	 Order	 on	 the	 Solution	 Subsidence	
Structure	 in	 tal-Mensija’	 and	 two	Government	Notices	
updating	 the	 list	and	designating	 further	Special	Areas	
of	 Conservation	 (and	 Special	 Protection	 Areas)	 were	
published.	Other	Conservation	Orders	are	being	drafted,	
for	consultation	and	publication	in	2020,	mostly	related	
to	 the	setting	of	measures	 regarding	marine	protected	
areas.
 
These	 regulations	 led	 to	 the	 designation	 of	 new	
protected	 areas	 and	 protected	 species	 (including	
orchids	 and	 corals)	 as	 well	 as	 stronger	 environmental	
risk	assessments	linked	with	the	release	of	viable	GMOs	
into	the	environment.	Four	new	Natura	2000	sites	were	
designated	and	proposed	to	the	European	Union.

One	 aspect	 of	 policy	 implementation	 is	 related	 to	 the	
management	of	 protected	 sites,	 in	which	 the	Unit	 has	
a	 major	 role	 especially	 from	 a	 regulatory	 perspective.	
This	 is	mostly	related	to	the	management	of	protected	

sites	and	species	 they	support,	 linked	with	 the	 threats	
that	could	potentially	affect	them.	The	Authority	adopts	
administrative,	contractual	and	statutory	 tools	 to	ensure	
appropriate	 site	 management	 processes,	 which	 include	
Legal	Notices,	Conservation	Orders,	Management	Plans,	
Management	Agreements,	Memoranda	of	Understanding,	
Environmental	 Permitting	 and	 Assessment	 Processes,	
Compliance	 and	 Enforcement	 Processes,	 Service	
Agreements	and	Commissioned	Studies,	as	well	as	other	
administrative	tools.	In	this	regard,	the	Unit	coordinates	
the	implementation	of	measures	within	sites,	particularly	
Natura	2000	sites,	generally	through	liaison	with	other	
entities/organisations,	 such	 as	 Ambjent	 Malta	 and	
eNGOs.	 Various	 management	 actions	 were	 taken	 in	
2019,	 these	 including	 aspects	 related	 to	 the	 removal	
of	 alien	 species,	 afforestation	 and	 restoration,	 species	
reintroduction,	 removal	 of	 construction	 material	 and	
other	 waste,	 as	 well	 as	 maintenance,	 signage,	 CCTV	
monitoring	 and	 actions	 related	 to	 visitor	 access.	 Sites	
targeted	 include,	 amongst	 others:	 Il-Majjistral,	 Għajn	
Tuffieħa,	 Il-Prajjet,	 Daħlet	 ix-Xmajjel,	 Ir-Ramla	 tat-Torri,	
Wied	 il-Miżieb,	 Il-Buskett,	 L-Għadira,	 Is-Simar,	 Is-Salini, 
L-Għadira	 s-Safra,	 Pembroke,	 Il-Magħluq	 tal-Baħar,	 Il-
Ballut	ta’	Marsaxlokk,	Ir-Ramla	l-Ħamra,	Kemmuna,	Santa	
Marija,.

When	 considering	 alien	 species,	 apart	 from	 their	
removal,	 other	 aspects	 were	 considered.	 The	 main	
initiatives	 relate	 to	 the	 identification	 of	 invasive	 alien	
species	 in	 Malta	 and	 their	 mapping;	 the	 elimination	
of	 pressures	 and	 threats	 posed	 by	 such	 alien	 species;	
the	 development	 of	 administrative	 measures	 for	 the	
prevention	 of	 harmful	 introduction	 of	 invasive	 alien	

Monticola solitaries -  Blue rock-thrush
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species,	as	well	as	risk	assessments,	early	detection	and	
rapid	response	measures.

Other	 policy-related	 work	 focused	 on	 trees	 and	
woodlands,	with	an	Action	Plan	in	drafting	stage,	which	
shall	cater	for	the	identification	of	threatened	species	and	
forestation	 sites,	 amongst	 other	 aspects.	A	 Landscape	
Protection	Action	Plan	is	also	in	the	pipeline.	Meanwhile,	
a	Geology	Action	Plan	is	currently	being	discussed	with	
relevant	entities	to	ensure	synergies.	Considerable	work	
and	discussions	were	also	carried	out	in	2019	regarding	
a	Desertification	and	Land	Degradation	National	Action	
Programme.

In	 relation	 to	 marine	 protected	 areas,	 an	 Action	 Plan	
on	 the	 implementation	 of	 management	 measures	
was	 prepared	 for	 inter-ministerial	 consultation,	 which	
includes	 issues	 linked	with	additional	capacity-building	
on	 marine	 protected	 area	 design,	 management,	
surveillance,	 monitoring,	 permitting,	 compliance	
and	 enforcement	 within	 ERA,	 and	 the	 setting	 up	 of	
agreements	 with	 relevant	 entities.	 In	 relation	 to	 this	
process,	 conservation	 measures	 are	 being	 formulated	
through	an	ongoing	stakeholder	consultation	process.

Meanwhile,	following	the	adoption	of	the	Second	Water	
Catchment	Management	Plan	and	the	National	Marine	
Monitoring	 Plan	 in	 2016,	 ERA	 is	 currently	 working	
on	 the	 implementation	 of	 selected	 measures,	 which	
has	 also	 included	 the	 following:	 revision	 of	 the	 Initial	
Assessment	 on	 Marine	 Waters;	 assessment	 of	 Good	
Environmental	 Status;	 revision	 of	Good	 Environmental	

Status	 characteristics	 and	 Environmental	 Targets;	
national	 marine	 monitoring	 plan	 implementation	 and	
revision;	 second	Water	 Catchment	Management	 Plan	
implementation	and	revision.

Moreover,	 in	 order	 to	 assist	 in	 the	 implementation	of	
relevant	water-related	environmental	policy,	two	peer-
review	 missions	 were	 carried	 out	 in	 2019,	 in	 which	
expert	advice	was	provided	vis-à-vis	the	implementation	
of	the	Water	Framework	Directive	in	Malta,	specifically	
focusing	on	contaminants	and	the	ecological	status	of	
inland	waters.	 Additionally,	 a	workshop	with	 relevant	
stakeholders	was	also	held	in	Malta	by	JASPERS	(Joint	
Assistance	 to	 Support	 Projects	 in	 European	 Regions),	
during	 which	 the	 processes	 and	 mechanisms	 that	
need	to	be	employed	to	ensure	the	correct	application	
of	 Article	 4(7)	 of	 the	 Water	 Framework	 Directive	 in	
projects	were	discussed.	

These	 and	 other	 aspects	 lead	 to	 the	 further	
implementation	 of	 the	 National	 Biodiversity	 Strategy	
and	Action	Plan	(NBSAP)	2012-2020,	which	Strategy	is	
also	undergoing	a	review,	so	as	to	feed	into	its	revision	
aimed	to	cover	up	to	2030.	

With	 a	 view	 to	 implement	 the	 various	 policy	 aspects	
led	by	 the	Unit,	various	meetings	were	organised	and	
attended	to	(both	in	Malta	and	abroad),	various	projects	
and	 other	 studies	were	 followed,	 and	 relevant	 status	
assessments	 carried	 out	 –	 the	 latter	 are	 an	 intrinsic	
part	of	the	role	of	the	Unit	in	monitoring	and	reporting	
aspects.
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Furthermore,	 the	 role	 of	 policy	 development	 and	
implementation	 also	 includes	 the	 review	 of	 national	
policy	documents	and	similar	documentation	regarding	
various	sectors	and	topics,	which	in	2019	constituted	of	
over	40	consultations.	

1.3.2 Monitoring and reporting, including data 
management
A	 major	 role	 of	 this	 thematic	 Unit	 is	 monitoring	 and	
reporting	of	the	status	of	the	environment.	In	this	regard,	
field	 visits	 are	 carried	 out	 and	 studies	 commissioned,	
so	 as	 to	 assess	 the	 status	 of	 species,	 habitats	 and	
ecosystems,	 including	 terrestrial	 and	 marine	 aspects	
(such	 as	 contamination,	 seabed	 physical	 loss	 and	
disturbance,	marine	litter),	as	called	for	through	various	
legislation,	particularly	the	EU	Habitats	Directive,	the	EU	
Marine	Strategy	Framework	Directive	and	the	EU	Water	
Framework	 Directive,	 as	 well	 as	 the	 EU	 Regulation	
regarding	 Invasive	 Alien	 Species.	 This	 work,	 together	
with	 input	 towards	 applications,	 other	 requests	 from	
interested	parties	and	measures	within	protected	areas,	
requires	field	visits,	of	which	over	130	were	carried	out	in	
2019.	Further	to	this,	various	projects	are	followed,	and	
studies	are	commissioned,	to	allow	for	such	assessments	
to	be	carried	out.

The	 information	 attained	 is	 then	 utilised	 to	 carry	
out	 status	 assessments,	 following	 which	 reports	 are	
compiled	 and	 submitted	 to	 relevant	bodies,	 especially	
to	 the	 European	 Commission.	 Indeed,	 there	 are	 a	
number	of	reporting	obligations	catered	for	by	the	Unit,	
regularly	or	ad	hoc,	which	are	prepared	as	required	by	
the	European	Commission	and	Convention	Secretariats,	
amongst	others;	with	the	topics	ranging	across	the	remit	
of	the	Unit,	and	mainly	focusing	on	reporting	regarding	
how	 relevant	aspects	are	being	 implemented	 in	Malta	
and	the	results	attained	through	the	measures	in	place.	

Amongst	 the	 major	 reports	 worked	 upon	 and/or	
submitted	in	2019,	the	following	can	be	mentioned	when	
considering	European	Union	aspects:	Habitats	Directive	
Article	16	derogation	report	for	the	period	2017–2018;	
Habitats	Directive	Article	17	implementation	report	for	
the	 period	 2013–2018;	 Prioritised	 Action	 Framework	
(PAF)	 as	 per	 Article	 8	 of	 the	 Habitats	 Directive,	 in	
connection	 with	 funds	 required	 for	 the	 period	 2021-
2027	 for	 the	 implementation	 of	 measures	 related	 to	
Natura	2000	and	beyond;	IAS	Regulation	National	Report	
on	Implementation	of	the	IAS	Regulation;	Contained	Use	
of	genetically	Modified	Micro-organisms	Directive	reports;	

Marine	Strategy	Framework	Directive	Article	18	interim	
report	on	the	Programme	of	Measures;	Marine	Strategy	
Framework	Directive	Article	17	report	on	the	update	to	
the	Initial	Assessment,	Good	Environmental	Status	and	
Targets;	Water	Framework	Directive	Article	15	 interim	
report	 on	 Programme	 of	Measures;	Water	 Framework	
Directive	Environmental	Quality	Standards	reporting	on	
Supplementary	Contaminants;	Priority	Substances	in	the	
Field	of	Water	Policy	Directive	Watch	List	Monitoring.	In	
relation	to	other	regional	and	global	level	commitments,	
the	 following	 reports	 were	 worked	 upon	 and/or	
submitted	 in	 2019:	Common	Database	 on	Designated	
Areas	 (CDDA)	 report,	 on	 areas	 designated	 under	
national	legislation	for	the	purpose	of	nature	protection;	
ACCOBAMS	National	Report	on	cetaceans;	UN	SPA/BD	
Protocol	–	Protocol	concerning	Specially	Protected	Areas	
and	Biological	Diversity	 in	 the	Mediterranean	National	
Report;	 Bern	 Convention	 Biennial	 Exceptions	 Report;	
Cartagena	 Protocol	 on	 Biosafety	 4th	 National	 Report;	
Convention	on	Biological	Diversity	6th	National	Report.	
Further	to	this,	various	other	minor	and	ad	hoc	reports	
were	 handled,	 together	with	 the	 following	 of	 relevant	
notifications	received	from	Convention	Secretariats	(e.g.	
over	 100	 from	 the	 Secretariat	 for	 the	 Convention	 on	
Biological	Diversity).	

To	assist	 in	such	monitoring	and	reporting,	and	also	as	
a	result	of	it,	and	to	further	allow	for	the	development	
and	 implementation	 of	 policy,	 data	 management	 is	 a	
crucial	 role	of	 the	Biodiversity	and	Water	Unit.	 Spatial	
data	management	 and	mapping	 is	 a	major	 task	within	
the	 Unit,	 since	 it	 is	 necessary	 for	 different	 processes,	
ranging	 from	 data	 analysis	 to	 publication	 of	 new	
protected	 areas,	 and	 ranging	 from	 feeding	 into	 major	
reports	submitted	to	the	European	Commission	and	into	
ongoing	 day-to-day	 tasks.	 Through	 the	 EMFF	 marine	
environmental	 monitoring	 project,	 a	 database	 system	
housing	INSPIRE	compliant	spatial	data	was	developed;	
linking	this	to	ERA’s	data	platform	allows	for	the	support	
and	integration	of	environmental	data	pertaining	to	the	
marine	environment,	 as	well	 as	other	 relevant	data	on	
marine-related	sectors.	The	development	of	this	database	
system	was	based	on	the	data	types	collected	through	
the	 implementation	 of	 the	 monitoring	 programme,	
but	 also	 caters	 for	 other	 data	 on	 economic	 sectors	 or	
activities	 generated	 by	various	Government	 bodies	 on	
the	 basis	 of	 consultations	 with	 relevant	 stakeholders.	
Other	data	 capturing	processes	are	handled	on	a	day-
to-day	basis,	such	that	all	relevant	information	obtained	
from	 different	 sources	 is	 utilised	 as	 necessary	 for	 the	
various	tasks	being	carried	out.	
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1.3.3 Biodiversity & Water-related projects
In	 2019,	 the	 Biodiversity	 &	 Water	 Unit,	 representing	
ERA,	 participated	 in	 two	 major	 projects,	 these	 being	
Marine	 environmental	 monitoring:	 towards	 effective	
management	 of	 Malta’s	 marine	 waters	 (EMFF	 8.3.1),	
ERA	 as	 the	 Lead	 Beneficiary,	 which	 caters	 for	 the	
various	aspects	of	monitoring	as	called	for	through	EU	
Directives,	 especially	 the	 Marine	 Strategy	 Framework	
Directives	 and	 the	 Habitats	 Directive;	 and	 LIFE	 IP	
RBMP-MALTA	 (LIFE16	 IPE/MT/000008),	 which	 is	 led	
by	 the	 Energy	 and	Water	Agency,	which	 includes	 the	
implementation	 of	 selected	 measures	 put	 forward	 as	
part	of	Malta’s	 second	Water	Catchment	Management	
Plan	 and	 the	 Marine	 Strategy	 Framework	 Directive	
Programme	 of	Measures.	 Regarding	 the	 latter	 project,	
in	2019,	 the	Unit	 followed	 the	 implementation	of	 two	
preparatory	 actions,	 one	 seeking	 the	 development	 of	
baseline	hydrographical	conditions	and	another	seeking	
the	development	of	a	monitoring	strategy	for	emerging	
contaminants	in	four	water	categories

In	the	role	of	Project	Partner,	the	Unit	also	contributed	
to	 the	 HARMONY project	 (Interreg	 V-A	 Italia-Malta),	
which	 aims	 to	 harmonise	 as	 much	 possible	 ongoing	
monitoring	 efforts	 conducted	 in	 Sicily	 and	 in	 Malta	
in	 relation	 to	 Non-Indigenous	 Species	 and	 Seafloor	
Integrity,	 contributing	 towards	 the	 implementation	 of	
the	Marine	Strategy	Framework	Directive.

In	 addition,	 the	 Unit,	 representing	 ERA	 in	 the	 role	 of	
beneficiary	 stakeholder,	 followed	 the	 developments	
and	 implementation	of	 two	other	projects,	 the	AMAre	
(Interreg	 MED)	 and	 the	 MedKeyHabitats	 II	 (MAVA	
Foundation)	projects.	

Meanwhile,	 the	 measures	 of	 the	 After-LIFE	
Conservation	 Plans	 from	 the	 EU	 LIFE+	MIGRATE	 and	
LIFE	BaĦAR	for	N2K	projects,	which	contribute	to	and	
build	 upon	 the	 Marine	 Strategy	 Framework	 Directive	
Programme	 of	Measures,	 are	 also	 being	 implemented.	
Some	 examples	 are	 the	 educational	 campaign	 for	
seafarers	 in	 collaboration	 with	 Transport	 Malta,	 the	
preparation	of	a	code	of	conduct	for	divers,	information	
on	protected/vulnerable	marine	 flora	and	 fauna	which	
shall	 be	 published	 on	 ERA’s	website,	 and	 the	 ongoing	
development	 of	 a	 protocol	 to	 facilitate	 the	 collection	
of	data	on	inshore	seabed	marine	litter	through	citizen	
science	and	the	coordination/support	of	related	clean-
ups.

The	 Unit	 also	 regularly	 reviews	 project	 proposals	 and	
calls	to	assess	potential	sources	of	alternative	funding,	
which	included	the	review	of	over	30	proposals	in	2019.	
In	 this	 context,	 the	 Unit	 provided	 support	 to	 2	major	
project	applications,	namely	the	LIFE	IP	Nature	(EU),	on	
the	implementation	of	various	measures	in	Natura	2000	
sites,	 and	 CORALLO	 (Interreg	 IT-MT),	 on	 activities	 to	
raise	public	awareness	on	habitats	and	species	in	Marine	
Protected	Areas.	 Both	 projects	would	 see	 ERA	 in	 the	
role	of	Project	Partner	should	they	be	awarded.
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one	can	mention	the	“Bat	Nights”	at	the	Natural	History	
Museum	 in	 Mdina,	 the	 Greenfest	 in	 Valletta,	 which	
focused	 on	 biodiversity	 and	 marine	 litter,	 and	 a	 boat	
trip	in	connection	with	the	World	Ocean	day.	The	Unit	
also	participated	 in	 other	 events	 coordinated	by	other	
entities.	

The	 Unit	 provides	 feedback	 towards	 various	 requests	
for	 information	 (which	 also	 include	 complaints,	
parliamentary	 questions,	 and	 other	 requests)	 received	
from	different	fronts,	especially	from	the	general	public,	
which	 in	 2019	 constituted	 of	 over	 200	 in	 relation	 to	
aspects	led	by	the	Biodiversity	&	Water	Unit.	To	further	
contribute	 towards	 the	 dissemination	 of	 information,	
substantial	 effort	 was	 made	 in	 2019	 to	 prepare	 for	
upcoming	revamped	webpages	on	the	ERA	website.

Meanwhile,	 technical	 expertise	 is	 necessary	 when	
considering	 the	 review	 of	 environmental	 and	 planning	
applications.	In	this	regard,	the	Biodiversity	and	Water	Unit	
provides	 relevant	 input	 and	participates	 in	 discussions	
on	such	applications,	which	 in	2019	constituted	 in	the	
region	 of	 300	 environmental	 applications	 and	 in	 the	
region	of	300	planning	applications.	Relevant	conditions	
were	also	provided	to	requests	for	Guardianship	Deeds.

1.3.5 Next steps
The	 Biodiversity	 and	 Water	 Unit	 seeks	 to	 continue	
with	 its	 work	 based	 on	 the	 aspects	 described	 here,	

In	order	to	develop	and	implement	policy,	one	also	needs	
to	 cater	 for	 the	 attainment	 of	 data	 through	 relevant	
research	and	other	studies.	In	this	regard,	the	Biodiversity	
and	Water	Unit,	in	2019,	was	actively	involved	in	around	
50	procurement	deeds,	in	relation	to	the	outsourcing	of	
research	 activities	 and	other	 studies	 –	 these	 including	
tenders,	direct	orders,	calls	 for	quotations,	and	service	
contracts.	As	 a	way	 of	 example,	 various	 tenders	were	
evaluated	and	awarded	in	relation	to	Habitats	Directive	
habitats	 and	 species,	 and	 a	 tender	 was	 awarded	 on	
intercalibration	 of	 ecological	 status	 boundaries	 for	
coastal	 waters;	 with	 other	 studies	 focusing	 on	 fungi,	
trees,	 seabirds,	 freshwater	 crab,	 sea	 urchins,	 fisheries	
data,	 contaminants,	waste	water,	 economic	 and	 social	
analysis	 of	 the	 use	 of	 surface	 and	marine	waters	 and	
costs	of	degradation,	assessment	of	 financial	gaps	and	
needs	for	the	implementation	of	conservation	measures	
in	the	marine	environment,	amongst	others.				

1.3.4 Following of, and contribution to, other processes
As	a	thematic	Unit	with	specific	expertise,	contribution	
is	provided	on	a	daily	basis	 towards	various	processes	
led	by	the	Authority.	

In	order	to	be	able	to	follow	and	achieve	the	work	of	the	
Unit,	it	is	essential	to	participate	in	various	fora	in	Malta	
and	 abroad.	 Various	 Committees	 and	 similar	 national	
fora	are	followed	by	the	Unit	(e.g.	Fisheries	Board,	Plant	
Protection	 Board,	 Green	 Infrastructure	 Committee,	
Inter-ministerial	 Committee	 on	 the	 Implementation	 of	
the	 Marine	 Strategy	 Framework	 Directive	 and	 Marine	
Protected	 Areas,	 Marine	 Spatial	 Planning	 Committee),	
while	various	 formal	meetings	were	organised	–	 these	
including	consultation	meetings	especially	in	relation	to	
the	development	of	marine	measures,	and	a	workshop	
in	 relation	 to	 invasive	 alien	 species.	 Attendance	 to	
around	 100	 events	 abroad	 covered	 EU	Working	 Party	
meetings,	 technical	 workshops,	 Committee	 meetings,	
Conference	of	the	Parties,	as	well	as	training,	amongst	
others,	covering	the	various	subject	matters	handled	by	
the	Unit.

It	 is	 also	 of	 great	 importance	 to	 reach	 out	 to	 relevant	
sectors	 and	 to	 the	 public	 in	 general.	 In	 this	 regard,	
the	 Biodiversity	 &	 Water	 Unit	 has	 been	 involved	 in	
various	 outreach	 and	 educational	 activities,	 as	 well	
as	 the	 provision	of	 information	 as	 called	 for.	The	Unit	
participated	in	several	television	and	radio	programmes	
and	interviews,	apart	from	presentations	and	discussions	
during	various	national	and	 international	meetings	and	
conferences.	Amongst	the	main	local	events	of	the	year,	

Common octopus
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with	 the	 further	 development	 and	 implementation	
of	 policy	 aspects.	 Indeed,	 plans	 are	 underway	 for	 the	
publication	 of	 additional	 policy	 documents,	 including	
legislation,	 some	 of	which	 is	 already	 in	 drafting	 stage.	
Meanwhile,	discussions	and	processes	are	underway	for	
interventions	 in	various	 areas,	with	 the	 aim	 to	 restore	
and	 rehabilitate	protected	areas	and/or	ameliorate	 the	
urban	environment	by	 introducing	green	 infrastructure	
and	 soft	 landscaping,	 together	 with	 relevant	 entities.	
Conservation	measures	for	terrestrial	Natura	2000	sites	
shall	 start	 being	 reviewed	 and	 revised	 as	 necessary,	
while	those	for	marine	Natura	2000	sites	finalised	and	
published.	Further	work	will	proceed	regarding	species	
and	habitats	status	assessments	and	related	publication	
of	information.	Regarding	species,	further	work	shall	be	
considered	in	2020,	especially	in	relation	to	threatened	
and	exploited	species,	both	regarding	policy	development	
and	 attainment	 of	 data,	 and	 also	 regarding	 measure	
implementation	which	will	be	targeting	threatened	and	
alien	 species,	 especially	 in	 protected	 areas.	Additional	
commissioned	 studies	 and	projects	will	 be	 considered,	
especially	in	relation	to	water	and	marine	aspects.	Work	
on	two	major	strategic	documents	will	be	taken	up,	these	
including	the	further	development	of	the	Desertification	
and	 Land	 Degradation	 National	 Action	 Programme	 and	
the	groundwork	for	a	new	National	Biodiversity	Strategy	
and	Action	Plan.	Furthermore,	work	is	underway	together	
with	relevant	bodies	in	relation	to	the	updating	of	relevant	
policies	 linked	 with	 cross-cutting	 dossiers,	 including	
issues	relevant	to	the	national	implementation	of	the	EU	
Nitrates	Directive,	the	EU	Urban	Waste	Water	Treatment	
Plant	Directive,	 the	EU	Water	Framework	Directive	 and	
the	 EU	 Marine	 Strategy	 Framework	 Directive,	 which	
are	 administered	 by	 multiple	 institutions	 within	 Malta,	
and	 address	 several	 sectors,	 including,	 amongst	 others,	
agriculture,	 environmental,	 farmland	 waste	 and	 water	
policies.

1.4 Ambient Air Quality and Waste Unit (AQWU)
The	 Unit	 is	 responsible	 for	 various	 thematic	 subjects.	
These	 include	 ambient	 air,	 radiation	 and	 noise,	
and	 the	 regulation	 of	 waste	 management.	 Waste	
management	 comprises	 all	 aspects	 related	 to	 waste	
including	 packaging,	 landfills,	 municipal	 waste	 and	
dredged	material.	 The	 unit	 is	 responsible	 to	 carry	 out	
ambient	monitoring;	ambient	quality	factors	and	waste	
regularisation;	 review	 of	 planning	 and	 environmental	
applications;	 and	 provision	 of	 information	 to	 various	
recipients.	 A	 summary	 of	 the	 Unit’s	 main	 deliverables	
during	2019	is	provided	in	Table	3.

1.4.1 Planning and Environmental Applications 
The	review	of	planning	and	environmental	applications	
is	one	of	the	demanding	tasks	both	in	terms	of	human	
capabilities	and	required	staff	compliment.	In	2019,	the	
Unit	reviewed	over	290	applications.	These	applications	
ranged	 from	 development	 related	 to	 the	 marine	
environment	to	other	construction	sites.	Environmental	
permit	 applications	 were	 also	 reviewed	 for	 different	
operational	 processes.	 The	 main	 focus	 of	 review	 was	
related	 to	 waste	 management,	 air	 quality	 and	 noise	
emissions.	On	 a	 less	 frequent	 occasions,	 the	Unit	was	
consulted	on	matters	related	to	light	quality.	

1.4.2 Policy Development
The	 Unit	 provides	 feedback	 on	 various	 documents	
published	 by	 the	 EU,	 Government	 Ministries,	 ERA	
(internal	consultations),	international	treaties	and	review	
of	proposed	legislations.

In	 addition	 to	 reviewing	 these	 documents,	 the	Unit	 is	
responsible	for	the	drafting	of	strategies	and	plans.	Apart	
from	 developing	 content,	 the	 Unit	 conducted	 public	
consultations	 and	 screening	 as	 part	 of	 the	 strategic	
environmental	 assessment.	 These	 new	 documents	
include	 the	National	Air	 Pollution	Control	 Programme,	
the	 Single	Use	 Plastic	 Strategy,	 the	Noise	Action	 Plan	
and	 the	 Construction	 and	Demolition	Waste	 Strategy.	
As	 required,	 the	 drafting	 of	 such	 technical	 documents	
included	 wide	 consultations	 with	 relevant	 primary	
stakeholders	and	detailed	research	on	multiple	aspects.
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In	order	 to	keep	abreast	with	 the	 latest	developments	
in	terms	of	policy	making,	officers	from	the	Unit	are	to	
attend	a	number	of	meetings,	both	abroad	and	 locally.	
The	attendance	to	meetings	abroad	is	rather	demanding	
and	this	includes	the	number	of	human	hours	required.	
However,	such	meetings	provide	an	opportunity	to	ERA	
officers	 to	 share	experience	and	knowledge	with	 their	
counter	 parts	 from	 other	 States	 and	 allows	 Malta	 to	
push	forward	its	position.

1.4.3 EU Funded Projects
The	 Unit	 is	 currently	 participating	 in	 two	 EU	 partially	
funded	projects:	the	COCOON	and	the	WINPOL.	Both	
projects	are	under	the	responsibility	of	the	Waste	Team.	
Such	 projects	 require	 regular	 input	 and	 also	 expect	
various	outputs	 that	are	 to	be	produced	by	the	Waste	
Team.	 The	 COCOON	 is	 about	 landfill	 management	
whereas	WINPOL	is	about	intelligent	waste	bins.

1.4.4 Training
The	 highly	 technical	 topics	 at	 AQWU	 demand	 that	
officers	 keep	 abreast	with	 the	 latest	 developments	 in	
the	respective	field.	Accordingly,	 these	officers	receive	
specialised	training	on	an	ongoing	basis.	

1.4.5 New Laws
One	of	the	key	outputs	of	AQWU	is	the	drafting	of	new	
laws	to	address	national	specific	needs	or	to	transpose	
new	EU	 laws.	Throughout	2019,	 the	Unit’s	main	 focus	
was	 on	 the	 transposition	 of	 various	waste	 related	 EU	
Directives.

1.4.6 Information to the Public
The	Unit	ensures	that	ERA	provides	timely	information	
to	 the	 public.	 In	 this	 report,	 these	 are	 referred	 to	 as	
‘requests	for	information’	(RFIs).	It	has	to	be	appreciated	
that	 these	 RFIs	 are	 not	 evenly	 distributed	 throughout	
the	year	and	some	may	be	particularly	demanding.	

  Waste Topics Air Topics Noise Topics Light Topics
PA applications processed
(including Major Projects & Dredging applications)

More	than	
270

150 119 8

Feedback on EP/IPPC applications and, or renewal 
of permits

25 5 17 0

Official MT’s feedback on international proposals/
EU acts

15 70 31 0

Feedback on internal and external queries and 
policies

120 70 29 2

Strategies/Plans drafted or ongoing
(*SUP Strategy, CDW Strategy, Cocoon Action 
Plan and Specific chapters for the National Waste 
Management Plan)

4* 1 1 0

Meetings attended abroad (excluding Interreg 
Projects)

Total	90

WINPOL & COCOON meetings abroad 6 na na na
Interreg Projects’ stakeholders/target events 
organised 

6 na na na

Internal/External Training sessions organised 5 4 1 0
Finalised/ongoing major waste studies/audits (*1 
study has been finalised this year)

4* na na na

Open LNs transposing EU Directives 8 1 na na
Review/drafting of LNs due to national agenda 8 0 0 0
Requests for information Total	62
Reports to EU 3 5 1 na

Table 3
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1.4.7 Generation of Reports
Another	role	of	the	Unit	is	the	generation	of	reports	that	
emanate	from	various	EU	Directives.	In	2019,	the	Unit	
produced	a	total	of	nine	reports.	Some	of	these	reports	
require	detailed	calculations	and	laborious	work.

To	 perform	various	 tasks,	 the	Unit	 issues	 on	 a	 regular	
basis	 various	 calls	 for	 the	 procurement	 of	 services	
and	 supplies.	These	 totalled	 to	 over	 100	 events.	 Such	
procurement	 is	 rather	 time	 consuming	 and	 the	 Unit	
must	also	ensure	 that	 it	 follows	 the	 relevant	 legal	 and	
policy	obligations.	In	addition	to	this,	five	tenders	were	
published	during	2019.	

Overall,	 the	 Unit	 adhered	 to	 its	 responsibilities	 albeit	
shortages	 in	 staff	 compliment,	 particularly	 in	 the	
Waste	 Team.	 The	 Unit	 considers	 that	 output	 is	 not	
only	 measured	 in	 terms	 quantity	 but	 also	 in	 terms	 of	
quality.	AQWU	officers	focus	on	both	aspects	and	this	
is	reflected	in	the	Unit’s	performance.

1.5 National Affairs – (NA)
The	National	Affairs	Unit	 (NA)	continued	to	contribute	
towards	the	strategic	function	of	the	Authority	in	2019,	
by	maximizing	on	 the	synergy	between	 the	Unit’s	 two	
main	pillars	–	that	of	outreach	and	policy	development.

1.5.1 Policy Development
In	collaboration	with	ERA’s	different	sections,	the	Unit	led	
the	development	of	policies and	concluded	2	major	ones	
in	2019.	NA	also	continued	to	integrate	the	environment	
in	national	polices	external	to	ERA,	to	ensure	that	other	
national	entities	also	contribute	to	the	achievement	of	
environmental	 targets.	 	Over	 60	 policies,	 strategies	 or	
specific	plans	prepared	by	other	national	agencies	were	
reviewed,	and	ERA	feedback	was	provided	to	33	policies	
expected	to	have	most	influence	on	the	environment.	

1.5.2 National Strategy for the Environment 2050
National	 Affairs	 dedicated	 most	 of	 its	 strategic	 policy	
efforts	on	the	first	phase	of	the	National	Strategy	for	the	
Environment	2050.	This	work	included	the	development	
of	 a	 lead	 Scenario	 which	 envisions	 where	 we	 want	
Malta’s	 environment	 to	 be	within	 30	years	 and	which	
will	form	the	basis	of	a	plan	of	action	to	achieve	a	desired	
state.	This	Scenario	was	developed	on	the	foundations	
provided	by	the	2018	State	of	the	Environment	Report	
(SoER)	 and	 extensive	 stakeholder	 consultation	 and	
surveying	carried	out	this	year.	

1.5.3 Outreach Initiatives
ERA	 officers	 working	 in	 the	 field	 of	 environmental	
communication	and	policy	development tailored	a	training	
course	 on	 the	 applicability	 and	 use	 of	 various	 media	
to	 suit	 the	 audience.	 This	 complimented	 the	 Unit’s	
momentum	 on	 communication	 initiatives,	 including	
the	 production	 of	 over	 100	 outreach	 outputs.	 These	
outputs	take	the	form	of	different	material	including	13	
videos,	51	printed	matter	 items	and	40	signs,	amongst	
others.	 Approximately	 16,000	 posters,	 200	 booklets,	
100	brochures	and	60	pamphlets	were	distributed	during	
events	to	communicate,	educate	and	raise	awareness	of	
our	stakeholders.

1.5.4 Citizen Science
The	 Citizen	 Science	 project	 entitled	 ‘Fair	 with	 Air	 at	
Schools’ was	 successfully	 completed.	 School	 children	
from	 25	 schools	 and	 ERA	 officers	 installed	 devices	 to	
monitor	the	air	quality	in	close	proximity	to	their	schools.	
This	 project	 gave	 the	 children,	 parents	 and	 teachers	
the	 opportunity	 to	 evauluate	 the	 impact	 of	 transport	
choices.	

1.5.5 Consultations and Information meetings
Around	2,000	queries	were	addressed	through	the	info@
era.org.mt	set	up,	together	with	around	36	Parliamentary	
Questions.	The	Unit	ensured	that	the	Authority	remained	

mailto:info@era.org.mt
mailto:info@era.org.mt
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in	 touch	 with	 its	 stakeholders	 through	 25	 events	
including	consultations	and	information	meetings.

1.5.6 Media Appearances
The	Unit	also	 led	the	preparation	of	officers	for	more	
than	40	media	appearances,	on	TV	and	radio;	with	some	
of	 these	 involving	 multiple	 appearances.	 Awareness	
raising	 was	 also	 carried	 out	 face	 to	 face	 on	 specific	
topics	such	as	through 2	Bat	nights,	to	which	the	public	
were	invited	to	attend	to	learn	more	about	our	natural	
environment.	

1.6 International Affairs – (IA)
1.6.1 Projects
During	2019,	ERA	screened	52	invitations	to	partner	
in	 or	 support	 internationally-funded	 projects,	 under	
funding	 programmes	 including	 INTERREG,	 ENI	 CBC	
MED,	Horizon	2020,	PRIMA	and	LIFE,	as	well	as	project	
to	be	submitted	under	national	funding	programmes.	
ERA	offered	14	letters	of	support	and	has	partnered	
in	 one	 Interreg	 IT-MT	 project	 application	 entitled	
CORALLO.	 ERA	 also	 worked	 on	 finding	 a	 service	
provider	for	its	successful	bid	to	secure	assistance	from	
the	 EU	 Structural	 Reform	 Support	 Services	 (SRSS)	
programme	 for	 reforms	 in	 environmental	 permitting	
and	 enforcement.	 During	 2019,	 ERA	 continued	 to	
work	on	common	provisions	and	guidance	documents	
in	relation	to	the	Environment	Fund.	Ongoing	funded	
projects	 during	 this	 period	 were	 two	 INTERREG	
Europe	waste	projects,	COCOON	and	WINPOL,	one	
INTERREG	IT-MT	project	(HARMONY),	and	1	LIFE	IP	
project,	RBMP	Malta	(Optimising	the	implementation	
of	the	2nd	RBMP	in	the	Maltese	River	Basin	District).

1.6.2 EU and International Affairs 
Due	to	the	global,	widespread	or	transboundary	nature	
of	 environmental	 issues,	 ERA	 continually	 interacts	
with	 the	 international	 community	 both	 due	 to	 its	
international	obligations	but	also	due	to	its	participation	
in	informal	networks	and	processes.	The	International	
Affairs	Unit	is	ERA’s	principal	point	of	interface	on	EU	
and	multilateral	policy	matters,	ensuring	that	ERA	fulfils	
its	 international	obligations	while	maintaining	 its	high	
profile	internationally.	

During	 2019,	 ERA’s	 attended	 232 international	
meetings	 in	 this	 period,	 51	 instruction	 notes	 for	 EU	
Council	 negotiation	 meetings	 attended	 by	 ERA	were	
vetted	and	approved,	as	well	as	 instruction	notes	and	
follow-ups	for	98	expert	committee	meetings	focussing	

on	 implementation	of	 the	EU	Acquis	 and	 international	
obligations.	The	Unit	also	led	the	ratification	procedure	
for	 two	 Protocols	 under	 the	 Convention	 on	 Long-
Range	 Transboundary	Air	 Pollution,	 and	 the	 European	
Landscape	Convention. 

In	 addition,	ERA	submitted	27	 implementation	 reports	
on	 various	 directives	 and	 multilateral	 instruments	 in	
2019,	including	their	reporting	checklists,	following	due	
consultations	with	external	entities,	as	applicable.	ERA	
also	coordinated	the	transposition	process	of	seven	EU	
Directives	and	one	EU	Regulation,	three	of	which	were	
finalised	 and	published	 in	2019.	ERA	also	 coordinated	
the	drafting	of	five	legal	notices	relating	to	infringements	
and	effective	 implementation	of	EU	 law,	 two	of	which	
were	published	in	2019.	

On	 infringements,	 ERA	 contributed	 input	 on	 issues	
concerning	implementation	of	infringement	processes,	
as	well	as	leading	the	review	of	Malta’s	country	reports	
under	 the	 2019	 EU	 Environment	 Implementation	
Review	 and	 the	 Governance	 Assessment	 Framework	
initiatives.	 The	 value	 added	 here	 was	 to	 focus	 on	
proactive	 tasks	 to	 avoid	 infringements,	 highlighting	
key	issues	of	non-conformity	and	identifying	corrective	
action.	

During	2019	ERA	continued	to	participate	actively	in	the	
Network	of	heads	of	Environment	Protection	Authorities	
(EPAN)	and	the	EU	Network	for	the	Implementation	and	

Tursiops truncatus - Bottlenose dolphin
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Enforcement	 of	 Environmental	 Law	 (IMPEL),	 though	
attendance	 at	 various	 horizontal	 and	 Interest	 Group/
Expert	 Team	 project	 capacity-building	 meetings	 and	
submission	of	various	questionnaires.	ERA	also	attended	
the	 84th	 Meeting	 of	 the	 Management	 Board	 of	 the	
European	Environment	Agency.	

As	part	of	its	duties	on	horizontal	dossiers,	ERA	is	also	
focal	point	for	the	Aarhus	Convention	on	environmental	
governance,	 and	 the	 Barcelona	 Convention	 for	 the	
protection	 of	 the	 Mediterranean	 Sea	 and	 its	 coastal	
areas.	As	 focal	 point	 for	 the	Aarhus	 Convention,	 ERA	
attended	six	international	Aarhus	negotiation	and	expert	
meetings,	 during	 one	 of	 which,	 the	 Meeting	 of	 the	
Parties	to	the	Convention	in	June	2019,	ERA	presented	
Malta’s	experience	 in	participatory	policy	development	
across	the	Mediterranean	region.		ERA	also	maintained	
a	record	of	access	to	information	requests	made	under	
the	Convention.

Under	 the	 Barcelona	 Convention,	 during	 2019	 ERA	
finalised	 the	 compilation	 of	Malta’s	 national	 biannual	
reporting	 in	 consultation	 with	 external	 entities	 and	
carried	 out	 the	 test	 phase	 for	 data	 reporting	 under	
the	 Mediterranean	 Regional	 Integrated	 Monitoring	
Assessment	 Programme.	 In	 2019	 the	 Protocol	
on	 Integrated	 Coastal	 Zone	 Management	 in	 the	
Mediterranean	was	ratified	by	Malta.	ERA	coordinated	
consultations	 and	 attended	 eight	 international	
meetings	preparing	for	an	including	the	21st	Meeting	of	
the	Convention	held	in	Naples,	Italy	on	2-5th	December	
2019.

1.7 Environmental Information Resources and Data 
Management
The	Team	handling	Environmental	Information	Resource	
Management,	 addressed	 various	 issues	 related	 to	
the	 setting	 up	 of	 centralised	 Environmental	 Data	
Management	system	so	as	 to	ensure	 the	development	
of	 appropriate	 environmental	 indicators	 and	 related	
reporting,	 and	 the	 following	 up	 of	 related	 measures	
aimed	at	sharing	and	distribution	of	environmental	data,	
related	policy	matters	and	environmental	indicators	and	
standards.

1.7.1 Training and Facilities on GIS
A	 new	 Enterprise	 Agreement	 was	 set	 up	 to	 enable	
the	 use	 and	 sharing	 of	 information	 via	 Geographic	
Information	Systems	(GIS),	which	also	included	purchase	
of	 technology	 (software	 and	 equipment,	 including	

drones),	 their	 calibration	 (as	 applicable)	 and	 training.	
Training	 courses	were	 set	 up	 for	Authority	 employees	
and	 worked	 commenced	 on	 new	 system	 on	 which	
further	training	and	support	services	will	be	provided	in	
2020.

1.7.2 ERA GIS Viewer (MEPS)
The	 Maltese	 Environmental	 Platform	 and	 Services	
(MEPS)	 has	 been	 set	 up	 following	 consultation	 with	
experts.	 The	 new	 MEPS	 provide	 the	 public	 with	 an	
Environmental	 Geographical	 Information	 System	 that	
displays	various	information	and	layers	of	environmental	
data	 and	 applications.	 Search	 by	 street,	 by	 application	
number,	 by	 habitats	 and/or	 species,	 protected	 areas,	
Natura	2000	sites,	marine	data,	as	well	as	data	generated	
on	 ambient	 monitoring,	 are	 amongst	 some	 of	 the	
features	that	will	be	offered	by	the	system.	The	system	is	
currently	undergoing	internal	testing	of	the	beta	version	
and	is	envisaged	to	be	launched	by	the	third	quarter	of	
2020.

Further	work	 has	 continued	 on	 the	 development	 of	 a	
Purchase	Request	System	 (PRS)	 as	part	of	 such	MEPS	
and	 related	 internet	 and	 mobile	 facilities,	 to	 enable	
online	approaches	 to	 the	purchase	of	certificates	and/
or	 maps	 from	 the	 Authority	 linked	 with	 sites,	 maps,	
protection	levels	and	other	environmental	information.

1.7.3 ERA Website
A	 new	 ERA	 website	 is	 being	 developed	 in	 order	 to	
provide	 the	 general	 public	 and	 various	 stakeholders	
with	 a	 more	 accessible,	 easier	 to	 navigate,	 and	 web	
responsive	 website.	 This	 website	 will	 include	 several	
features	 including	 bill	 payment	 facilities	 and	 all	 the	
public	 environmental	 information.	 Various	 webpages	
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were	created	and	the	website	is	currently	being	tested	
and	it	 is	envisaged	to	be	launched	by	the	third	quarter	
of	2020.

1.7.4 ERA Delivery Services
A	 series	 of	 web-based	 delivery	 services,	 to	 be	 freely	
available	 on	 PCs,	 mobiles	 and	 tablets,	 which	 will	
enable	 easier	 access	 to	 environmental	 data	 (including	
a	database	on	Natura	2000	 sites)	 and	enabling	 citizen	
science	 on	 different	 fronts,	 enabling	 faster	 reporting	
by	 the	 public,	 and	 related	 back-end	 assessment	
and	 mapping	 of	 environmental	 complaints,	 reports	
of	 habitats	 and	 species,	 invasive	 alien	 species	 and	
environment	monitoring	results,	are	being	developed	as	
part	of	our	commitment	to	enable	better	outreach	and	
dissemination	 of	 information;	 public	 engagement	 and	
participation;	and	citizen	science.	The	project	is	ongoing	
with	the	first	phases	to	be	completed	in	2020.

1.7.5 ERA Data INSPIRE Compliance
The	Information	Resources	Management	team	continued	
its	work	 on	 the	 streamlining	 of	 all	 environmental	 data	
and	its	standardisation	in	accordance	with	the	INSPIRE	
Directive.	Guidelines	were	produced	and	approved	and	
circulated	accordingly.	Moreover,	all	datasets	produced	
in	2019	as	well	as	many	of	the	earlier	pre-ERA	datasets	
relevant	 to	 the	 environment	 have	 been	 reviewed	 for	
compliance	 and	 standardisation,	 in	 collaboration	 with	
relevant	 experts	 and	 MITA,	 the	 national	 competent	
authority	on	the	INSPIRE	Directive.

The	 process	will	 continue	 throughout	 2020	 to	 ensure	
that	 all	 ERA	 environmental	 datasets	 are	 standardised	
according	to	international	standards	to	ensure	its	sharing	
along	different	entities	and	platforms.

The	 team	 has	 also	 looked	 into	 relevant	 European	
certification	 schemes,	 to	 enable	 certified	 sharing	 of	
datasets,	which	will	be	concluded	in	2020.

1.7.6 International Information Resources
The	 team	 was	 also	 responsible	 for	 selected	 activities	
linked	 with	 international	 information	 resources	 linked	
with	 the	 environment,	 such	 as	 issues	 linked	 with	 the	
European	 Environment	 Information	 and	 Observation	
Network	 (EIONet)	 under	 the	 European	 Environment	
Agency	 (EEA)	 on	 selected	 environmental	 matters;	
Copernicus;	 and	 the	 United	 Nations	 Information	 and	
Communication	 Regional	 Activity	 Centre	 (INFO/RAC).	
The	team	also	continued	its	work	as	the	environmental	
data	focal	point	on	a	number	of	contracts	and	projects	
involving	 development	 of	 data-sharing	 mechanisms	
and	databases,	including	projects	with	national	entities,	
such	 as	 the	 National	 Statistics	 Office	 (NSO)	 and	 the	
Sustainable	 Development	 Directorate	 within	 the	
Ministry	for	the	Environment,	Sustainable	Development	
and	 Climate	 Change	 (MESDC),	 as	 well	 as	 on	 issues	
linked	with	international	projects,	also	assisting	ERA	and	
other	 partners	 on	 projects	 such	 as	 the	 EMFF	Marine	
Monitoring	Project,	various	LIFE	projects	and	SIntegraM.

1.7.7 Information, Data Management and Innovation 
Policies
The	Information	Resources	Management	team	continued	
its	support	in	assisting	other	entities	on	projects	related	
to	the	streamlining	and	sharing	of	all	environmental	data	
and	measures	 to	assist	 in	digital	 innovation,	as	well	 as	
assistance	in	policy	development.

Work	 on	 a	 national	 environment	 information	 and	 data	
management	 policy	 continued	 and	 is	 ongoing,	 in	 line	
with	 current	 recommendations	 on	 the	 basis	 of	 reviews	
of	 indicators	 and	 data	 generated	 through	 the	 review	
programmes	of	strategies	and	plans,	such	as	the	National	
Biodiversity	Strategy	and	Action	Plan	(NBSAP);	reporting,	
such	as	the	Habitats	Directive;	as	well	as	the	results	of	the	
2018	State	of	the	Environment	Report	(SOER).	

02
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In	2019,	 the	Compliance	and	Enforcement	Directorate	
continued	 consolidating	 itself	 and	 further	 resources	
were	dedicated	for	a	more	effective	and	efficient	output.

The	number	of	officers	within	the	Directorate	increased	
from	 28	 officers	 in	 2018	 to	 35	 by	 the	 end	 of	 2019.		
Furthermore,	in	the	last	quarter	of	this	year,	the	services	
of	 20	 officers	 were	 contracted	 to	 further	 assist	 in	
enforcement	on	the	ground	of	specific	responsibilities.

The	 Directorate	 started	 the	 year	 with	 three	 Teams	
dedicated	to	sectoral	responsibilities	concerning	Waste,	
Nature	 and	 Industrial	 Facilities,	 and	 these	 have	 been	
increased	to	six	Teams.		In	September,	the	Directorate’s	
structure	was	 remodelled	 into:	 a	Facilities and Quarries 
Team	 responsible	 for	 industrial	 and	 waste	 facilities,	
petrol	stations	and	quarries	among	others;	a	Coastal and 
Marine Team	 responsible	 for	 facilities	 affecting	 the	 sea	
and	coast,	such	as	fish	farms,	and	sea	pollution;	a	Waste 
Shipments and Extended Producer Responsibility Team;	
a	Waste Dumping & Litter Team	 that	 focuses	 on	waste	
dumping,	 incineration,	 and	 domestic	 waste	 ;	 a	Nature 
Compliance Team	 that	 deals	 primarily	 with	 protected	
areas	and	species,	invasive	alien	species,	trade	in	species,	
and	protected	 trees;	 and	of	an	Enforcement Operations 
Team	 focusing	 on	 providing	 comprehensive	 feedback	
from	 a	 compliance	 and	 enforcement	 perspective	
on	 consultations	 concerning	 legislation,	 policy	 and	
development	 proposals,	 this	 Team	 was	 purposely	
created	this	year	so	as	to	take	charge	of	the	increasing	

The Compliance & 
Enforcement Directorate

number	of	Administrative	and	Daily	Fines	being	 issued	
by	the	Directorate.		For	instance,	whilst	by	2018	the	ERA	
had	issued	11	Administrative	Fine	Notices,	in	2019	this	
number	increased	to	291.

Of	the	291	Administrative	Fine	Notices	issued	in	2019,	
73%	were	 concerned	with	waste	 considerations.	 	 The	
number	 of	 people	 caught	 red-handed	 by	 the	 ERA	
Compliance	and	Enforcement	Officers	taking	out	waste	
for	 collection	 not	 when	 and	 where	 permitted,	 and	
subsequently	 notified	 of	 fines	 in	 terms	 of	 S.L.549.40	
–	 the	 ‘Abandonment,	Dumping	 and	Disposal	 of	Waste	
in	 Streets	 and	 Public	 Places	 or	 Areas	 Regulations’,	
amounted	to	106.		The	number	of	people	apprehended	
as	 from	 October	 increased	 substantially	 with	 the	
engagement	 of	 20	 contracted	 officers	 dedicated	 to	
on-the-ground	 surveillance	 and	 compliance	 assurance	
who	 carried	out	 622	 inspections.	 	The	 localities	 of	 St.	
Paul’s	Bay,	Sliema	and	Marsaskala	were	those	with	the	
highest	 number	 of	 people	 caught	 contravening	 these	
Regulations,	together	accounting	for	more	than	half	the	
total	apprehended.		In	addition	to	the	106	people	caught	
red-handed	 by	 the	 ERA	 officers	 taking	 out	 waste	 for	
collection	illegally,	another	61	persons	were	served	with	
fine	notices	after	perusal	of	video	footage	that	showed	
them	 depositing	 waste	 on	 the	 ground	 near	 Bring-In	
Sites,	 which	 is	 also	 illegal.	 	 This	 footage	 was	 mainly	
provided	under	an	 informal	agreement	with	GreenPak,	
one	 of	 the	 two	 local	 operators	 of	 the	 BISs,	 and	most	
related	 to	 contraventions	 at	 Mqabba	 and	 Pembroke.		
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ERA’s	Compliance	and	Enforcement	Directorate	 is	also	
coordinating	with	a	number	of	Local	Councils,	with	the	
Birkirkara	Local	Council	also	providing	footage	on	which	
ERA	is	taking	enforcement	action.

Apart	from	these	167	fine	notices	issued	on	litter/waste	
collection	infringements,	another	45	fine	notices	were	
issued	due	to	other	waste-related	infringements,	such	
as	waste	incineration,	waste	management	malpractices	
giving	 rise	 to	 odour	 nuisances	 to	 neighbours,	 waste	
being	 transported	without	 the	 required	waste	 carrier	
registrations,	construction	site	dusts	polluting	the	sea,	
etc.

In	late	April	and	early	May	of	2019,	the	Facilities	Team	
also	identified	45	Administrative	Fine	Notices	that	were	
sent	to	facilities	that	had	failed	to	submit	the	reporting	
required	 by	 their	 environmental	 permit.	 	 The	 same	
Team	also	 instigated	the	 issuance	of	12	Administrative	
Fine	Notices	to	fish	farms	during	the	summer	of	2019,	
and	 another	 10	 cases	 related	 to	 non-abidance	 with	
environmental	authorization	conditions.		4	administrative	
fine	notices	were	 also	 sent	due	 to	offences	 related	 to	
protected	trees.

The	sectoral	Teams	are	responsible	for	issuing	Ordnijiet	
ta’	 Waqfien	 (Stop	 Orders),	 Ordnijiet	 ta’	 Konformità	
(Compliance	 Orders)	 or	 Ordnijiet	 ta’	 Waqfien	 u	
Konformità	 (Stop	 and	Compliance	Orders).	 	Of	 the	 75	
Orders	issued	in	2019,	64%	(or	48)	were	issued	by	the	
Facilities	Team,	25%	(or	19)	by	the	Waste	Team,	and	the	
remaining	11%	(or	8	Orders)	by	the	Nature	Team.		More	
than	 half	 the	 latter	 Team’s	 Orders	 in	 2019	 related	 to	

environmental	 illegalities	conducted	during	 roadworks.		
Nearly	all	the	Orders	issued	by	the	Waste	Team	covered	
waste	dumping,	 including	scrapped	cars.	 	19	of	the	48	
Orders	 issued	 by	 the	 Facilities	 Team,	 related	 to	 illegal	
waste	operations,	14	to	quarry	operations	that	were	not	
in	line	with	environmental	legislation	and	authorizations,	
8	to	petrol	stations,	and	6	to	facilities	from	which	effluent	
or	odours	were	emanating.

The	consolidated	system	of	registering	the	investigative	
cases	of	all	Teams	that	was	created	in	2017,	was	further	
entrenched	 and	 developed,	 and	 the	 total	 number	
of	 registered	 cases	 steadily	 augmented	 from	 444	
investigation	files	logged	in	2017,	to	889	cases	in	2018,	
to	2414	logged	in	2019.		610	of	the	2019	Investigation	
Files	 (IFs)	 related	 to	 litter	 offences,	 with	 another	 195	
relating	to	waste	dumping	and	burning.	 	89	IFs	related	
to	 cases	 involving	 protected	 trees.	 	 64	 IFs	 concerned	
facilities	 allegedly	 operating	 not	 in	 accordance	 with	
permits/permit	conditions,	another	60	failing	to	submit	
reporting	as	required	in	the	permits,	and	another	58	for	
allegedly	operating	without	a	required	authorization.		60	
IFs	concerned	Extended	Producer	Responsibility	issues,	
whilst	53	were	quarry	related.	In	addition	to	the	above	
most	 numerous	 topics	 about	 which	 IFs	 were	 opened,	
there	 were	 several	 other	 considerations	 treated,	
such	as	 the	generation	of	odours	and	 fumes	by	waste	
management	malpractices,	discharges	to	sea,	and	waste	
carrier	issues.		

2.1 Waste EPR and Shipments Team
The	 highest	 number	 of	 IFs,	 nearly	 900,	were	 however	
issued	in	relation	to	shops	and	other	parties	who	placed	
WEEE	on	the	Maltese	market	during	2015	and	2016	and	
had	failed	to	register	or	 to	meet	their	EPR	obligations.	
In	October	2019	in	fact,	the	Waste	EPR	and	Shipments	
Team	 issued	 829	 Out	 of	 Court	 Settlement	 notices	 to	
resolve	 the	 2016	 and	 2015	 infringements	 in	 lieu	 of	
Court	action.

2.2 Waste Compliance
The	 Waste	 Compliance	 Officers	 address	 a	 spectrum	
of	 issues	 relating	 to	waste	management.	 	 Pursuant	 to	
the	 requirements	 of	 the	Waste	 Shipment	 Regulations,	
during	2019,	1865	export	documents	for	non-hazardous	
waste	and	2400	documents	 for	hazardous	waste	were	
processed.	 	 Another	 of	 the	 priorities	 of	 this	 Team	 is	
securing	 compliance,	 inspections	 and	 other	 efforts	
related	to	the	Extended	Producer	Responsibility	(EPR)	for	
Batteries,	for	Electrical	and	Electronic	Equipment,	and	for	
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Packaging.		To	this	effect,	more	than	75	inspections	have	
been	carried	out	at	various	outlets	across	 the	Maltese	
Islands	 and	 at	 targeted	 producers	 in	 order	 to	 address	
WEEE,	batteries	and	packaging	producers	within	Malta.		
Another	80	inspections	were	carried	out	with	respect	to	
TFS	(Transfrontier	Shipments	of	Waste).		

2.3 Nature Compliance Team
The	 Nature	 Compliance	 Team’s	 main	 responsibility	 is	
compliance	with	 nature,	 biodiversity	 and	wildlife	 laws	
and	regulations.	 	Trade	of	certain	species,	as	 regulated	
by	 the	 CITES	 and	 the	 EU	 Wildlife	 Trade	 regulations	
apart	 from	 the	 local	 Subsidiary	 Legislation	 549.38,	 is	
very	demanding	in	terms	of	inspections	that	are	carried	
out.		Regulations	relating	to	invasive,	alien	species	also	
instigate	several	inspections	and	controls.		Furthermore,	
several	 more	 inspections	 are	 carried	 out	 regularly	 at	
all	 hours	 of	 the	 day,	 and	 night,	 to	 ensure	 that	various	
live	 and	 dead	 specimens	 or	 artefacts,	 such	 as	 birds	
(live	or	dead),	 tortoises,	certain	 furniture,	etc.,	 that	are	
moving	 in	or	out	of	 the	Maltese	 Islands	are	either	not	
of	endangered	and/or	protected	species,	or,	if	they	are,	
to	ensure	 that	 they	are	of	 legal	origin	as	corroborated	
by	the	necessary	permits	or	certificates.		To	this	effect,	
289	transactions	involved	inspections	that	were	carried	
out	at	 local	points	of	entry/departure,	covering	22099	
specimens.	 	 The	 various	 wildlife	 categories	 inspected	
during	2019	were	as	follows	(Figure	2):

Several	 items	 had	 to	 be	 seized	 by	 the	 Team	 in	 2019	
because	 they	were	 illegally	brought	 into	Malta.	 	There	
were	19	cases	of	seizures	of	illegally	possessed	or	traded	
wildlife.		The	total	number	of	wildlife	specimens	seized	
was	very	high	compared	to	other	years	and	comprised	
930	such	specimens	as	follows:

•	 752	birds	comprised	of	751	bird	 skins	or	carcasses	
and	1	live	specimen;

•	 33	 reptiles	 comprised	of	7	worked	 reptile	products	
(Crocodile	watchstraps	&	 snakeskin	 purses)	 and	 26	
live	reptiles	(lizards	&	tortoises);

•	 15	live	plants	(orchids	and	Cacti);
•	 79	invertebrates	comprised	of	45	live	shrimps	and	30	
live	crabs	and	dead	molluscs	and	1	dead	Coral;

•	 33	 mammal	 products	 comprised	 of	 32	 pieces	 of	
Chinese	medicine	said	to	contain	derivatives	of	Tiger	
bone	&	1	ivory	article;

•	 18	fish	comprised	of	17	dead	Mako	Sharks	&	1	set	of	
Mako	Shark	jaws.

Furthermore,	a	very	important	component	of	this	Team’s	
responsibilities	 relates	 to	 protected	 areas	 and	 species,	
including	 activities	 in	 Special	 Areas	 of	 Conservation	
and	 interventions	 affecting	 protected	 trees.	 	The	 total	
number	of	inspections	made	by	the	Nature	Compliance	
Team	in	order	to	ensure	compliance	with	issued	Nature	
Permits	and	ERA	conditions	under	PA	permits	amounted	
to	68,	whilst	another	194	inspections	were	carried	out	
to	 investigate	 complaints	 and	 ensure	 compliance	with	
Stop	and	Compliance	Orders.	

2.4 Facilities Compliance Team
The	 Facilities	 Compliance	 Team	 is	 responsible	 for	
compliance	within	 the	 industrial	 sectors	 including	 oil/
fuel	 terminals/port	 facilities;	 pharmaceuticals;	 power	
stations;	hotels;	VOCs/fuel	stations;	fish-farms;	quarries;	
waste	 management	 facilities,	 landfills;	 and	 general	
manufacturing.		The	Team’s	role	is	to	inspect	facilities	and	
guide	operators	to	abide	by	environmental	legislation	and	
with	 permit	 requirements	 and	 conditions.	 Compliance	
work	 is	 prioritised	 according	 to	 a	 risk	 management	

Inspection totals 2019
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system	 administered	 by	 the	 Team,	 which	 considers	
various	 factors,	 apart	 from	 ad	 hoc	 circumstances	 that	
must	be	dealt	with	when	they	arise.		In	2019,	the	Team	
conducted	1179	inspections	on	permitted	facilities,	and	
a	number	of	others	due	to	investigations,	including	those	
arising	following	reports	or	complaints.	

The	 Facilities	 Officers	 carried	 out	 the	 following	
inspections	in	2019	(Figure	3):

As	per	Table,	in	2019	the	Team	conducted	314	inspections	
relating	to	investigations	and	monitoring	of	the	Stop	and	
Compliance	Orders	that	it	had	issued,	compared	to	the	
115	 carried	out	 in	2018.	 	During	 the	 summer	months	
and	 early	 autumn,	 inspections	 far	 out	 at	 sea	 on	 fish	
farms	were	being	conducted	nearly	on	a	daily	basis,	and	
in	 2019	 the	Compliance	 and	 Enforcement	Directorate	

in	fact	 leased	two	RHIBs	so	that	 it	could	carry	out	the	
compliance	 monitoring	 deemed	 fit	 without	 having	 to	
depend	on	the	availability	of	other	public	entities,	as	was	
the	case	previously.		This	Team	also	received	206	Annual	
Environmental	 Reports	 (AERs)	 and	 a	 further	 6	 Audit	
reports	in	2019	for	the	reporting	year	of	2018	which	are	
duly	assessed	by	the	relevant	officers.

2.5 Enforcement Operations Team
The	 Enforcement	 Operations	 Team	 deals	 mainly	 with	
the	Daily	Fines	that	in	accordance	with	S.L.	549.72,	are	
imposed	 in	 all	 Ordnijiet	 ta’	 Waqfien	 u	 ta’	 Konformità	
(Stop	and	Compliance	Orders)	 issued	as	from	February	
of	 2018.	 	 The	 number	 of	 these	 Orders	 has	 increased	
from	14	issued	in	2017,	to	28	in	2018,	to	75	issued	in	
2019.

Total

1,179 Routine	Inspections
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Quarries	Exercise
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The	 Corporate	 Services	 Directorate	 supports	 the	
Authority	 in	 the	 daily	 management	 and	 operations	
requirements	related	to	Human	Resources,	Information	
Communication	 and	 Technology,	 Administration	 and	
Finance.	 The	 Administration	 Unit	 is	 further	 split	 into	
six	 (6)	 key	 areas	 of	 responsibilities:	 Procurement,	
Programme	 Implementation,	Health	&	Safety,	Registry,	
Cleaning	and	Maintenance.

2019	proved	to	be	another	interesting	and	challenging	
year	 for	 the	 Corporate	 Services	 Directorate	 with	
various	milestones	achieved.	Most	of	 the	projects	 and	
targets	 had	 a	 positive	 effect	 across	 the	Authority	 and	
encouraged	 many	 officers	 to	 work	 closely	 with	 each	
other	whereby	innovation	was	the	key.	Moreover,	a	lot	of	
work	was	also	carried	out	to	strengthen	the	Compliance	
and	Enforcement	Directorate	both	in	the	resourcing	and	
in	providing	the	proper	tools	for	their	day	to	day	needs.

An	 audit	 was	 also	 carried	 out	 across	 the	 Corporate	
Services	Directorate	by	 the	National	Audit	Office.	The	
audit	 report	 concluded	 that	 proper	 procedures	 were	
being	followed	in	accordance	with	pertinent	legislations.	
It	 also	 highlighted	 its’	 satisfaction	 on	 our	 overall	
Information	 Technology	 setup	 and	 systems	 utilised	
within	 the	Authority	 in	 terms	 of	 procurement,	 payroll	
and	revenue.	

3.1 Human Resources Unit 
During	 2019,	 the	Authority	 continued	 to	work	 on	 the	
Human	 Resources	 capacity	 and	 a	 significant	 increase	
was	 recorded	 within	 the	 Compliance	 &	 Enforcement	
Directorate.

ERAs	 first	 two	 Collective	 Agreements	 were	 also	
successfully	 concluded.	 These	 agreements	 pertain	 to	
the	 professional	 officers	 and,	 the	 administrative	 and	
technical	officers	of	the	Authority.	

3.1.1 Recruitment overview:
By	the	end	of	2019,	ERAs’	Human	Resources	compliment	
amounted	 to	 220	 officers	 resulting	 in	 an	 increase	 of	
19	 officers.	 In	 real	 terms,	 49	 officers	 were	 actually	
appointed,	split	as	follows:	
•	 3	within	the	CEO’s	Office;	
•	 20	within	the	Environment	&	Resources	Directorate;	
•	 18	within	the	Compliance	&	Enforcement	Directorate;	
and

•	 8	within	the	Corporate	Services	Directorate.		

ERA	 also	 hosted	 16	 interns	 for	 a	 couple	 of	 weeks	
throughout	the	year.	
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3.1.2 HR Capacity:
The	 Authority	 was	 setup	 in	 April	 2016	 and	 had	 a	
compliment	of	113	Officers.	The	below	graph	represents	
the	number	of	officers	as	at	end	of	each	year	between	
2016	and	2019.	(Figure	4)

3.1.3 Distribution of Officers 
The	 following	 statistics	 represent	 the	 distribution	 of	
Officers	 within	 the	 various	 operational	 areas	 of	 the	
Authority	(Figure	5):	
 
3.1.4 Gender segregation and Age Demographics:
By	 end	 of	 2019,	 the	 Authority’s	 overall	 compliment	
consisted	 of	 123	 female	 officers	 (56%)	 and	 97	 male	
officers	(44%).

Average	employee	age	for	both	female	and	male	officers	
stands	at	36	years.	

3.1.5 Age Demographics:
Being	recently	setup	and	given	the	characteristics	of	the	
roles	 and	 specialisations	 linked	 to	 this	 evolving	 sector,	
most	 of	 the	 Authority’s	 officers	 are	 well	 under	 40.	
Many	 Officers	 are	 literally	 fresh-out	 from	 educational	
institutions	and	our	ongoing	efforts	to	create	awareness	
within	 these	 institutions	 further	 reinforces	 this	
recruitment	trend.	(Figure	6)
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3.1.6 Qualifications:
The	Authority	has	a	highly	skilled	workforce	in	possession	
of	various	academic	qualification	levels	(Figure	7).

Other	 than	 the	 progressive	 established	 recruitment	
linked	increases	both	number	and	types	of	qualifications,	
figures	 also	 indicate	 individual	 efforts	 from	 existing	
officers	 towards	 furthering	 their	 qualifications.	 The	
highest	 number	 of	 Bachelor’s	 Degrees	 is	 in	 Biology	 &	
Chemistry,	totalling	46,	followed	by	32	in	Earth	Systems	
and	25	in	Geography.	

The	 highest	 number	 of	 Master’s	 Degrees	 is	 in	
Environmental	Management,	Sustainable	Development	
&	 Infrastructure,	 Planning	 &	 Management,	 and	
Environmental	Protection	&	Development,	totalling	47,	
followed	by	10	in	Biology	&	6	in	Geography.				
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3.1.7 Career Events
In	2019,	 the	Authority	participated	 in	 seven	 (7)	 career	
events	 and	 seminars	 aimed	 at	 attracting	 a	 young	
workforce	 and	 encourage	 students	 to	 study	 sciences	
and	environmental	related	subjects,	whilst	concurrently	
promoting	career	opportunities	within	the	Authority.		

In	 March	 2019,	 ERA	 was	 invited	 to	 the	 De	 La	 Salle	
exposure	 of	 careers,	 an	 event	 wherein	 more	 than	 50	
entities	were	invited.		Students	from	Form	1	till	Form	5	
both	from	De	La	Salle	and	Stella	Maris	College	were	also	
invited.	 Significant	 interest	was	mostly	 shown	 at	 how	
ERA	strives	to	manage	and	preserve	the	Environment.	

In	November	2019,	ERA	also	participated	in	the	Teen’s	
Science	Café	Girls	 Festival,	 an	 event	 organised	 by	 the	
Education	Department.		An	interactive	informal	exchange	
took	place	at	Xara	Lodge	between	the	students	and	our	
professionals	 inquiring	 about	 career	 opportunities	 at	
ERA	and	female	participation	in	this	industry.	

ERA	 officials	 were	 also	 invited	 to	 participate	 in	 the	
launching	 of	 several	Master’s	 courses	 at	MCAST.	 ERA	
enjoys	 very	 good	 working	 relations	 with	 the	 College,	
especially	with	the	Institute	of	Applied	Sciences.	During	
2019,	11	ERA	officers	enrolled	for	a	Master’s	Programme	
with	MCAST.	

3.2 Information Communication & Technology
ICT	unit	continued	to	focus	on	providing	and	improving	
support	 functions	 to	 all	 ERAs	 Directorates	 whilst	
concurrently	 aligning	 itself	with	 the	 evolving	 business	
processes	 and	 requirements	 of	 the	 Authority.	 Several	
projects	have	also	been	 initiated	 in	order	 to	provide	a	
series	 of	 online	 tools	 aimed	 at	 facilitating	 interaction	
between	the	various	stakeholders	and	the	Authority.

Throughout	the	year	the	ICT	team	continued	to	work	on	
several	projects	and	initiatives	aimed	at	developing	and	
enhancing	internal	and	customer	facing	requirements.

Considerable	 focus	 was	 dedicated	 towards	 the	 full	
redesign	of	the	Authority’s	website	which	when	launched	
towards	 end	 of	Q1	 2020	will	 provide	 all	 stakeholders	
with	 a	 comprehensive,	 user	 friendly	 environmental	
information	‘mine’.		Enhancements	have	also	been	made	
to	the	ERA	Waste	eForms	facilitating	full	online	signature	
facilities	 and	 renewals.	 Positive	 progress	 was	 also	
achieved	towards	the	launch	of	an	online	e-id	integrated	
public	portal	which	will	allow	stakeholders	to	apply	for	a	

permit	online,	make	payments,	check	application	status	
and	related	communications.		

Significant	effort	was	also	made	on	our	MIS	which	is	a	
case	management	 system	 that	 can	be	used	 internally	
by	 ERAs’	 officers	 in	 order	 to	 better	 manage	 their	
caseload.	Several	modules	are	 incorporated,	 including	
document	 assembly,	 online	 payments,	 minuting	 and	
GIS.	 Concurrently	 with	 these	 efforts	 an	 extensive	
facelift	 was	 also	 given	 to	 our	 GIS	 Viewer	 aimed	 at	
making	it	more	in	sync	with	the	evolving	requirements	
of	 ERAs’	 IR	 remits,	 such	 as	 the	 integration	 of	 Street	
names	within	the	system.	Both	MIS	and	revamped	GIS	
Viewer	 are	 targeted	 to	 be	 launch	 during	 early	 2020.	
Thorough	market	research	was	also	carried	out	leading	
to	the	adoption	of	new	software	known	as	Document	
Management	 System	 (DMS).	 It	 is	 also	 intended	
to	 provide	 the	 Authority	 with	 a	 reinforced	 GDPR	
compliant	operational	platform	to	our	above	MIS	tool.

Another	 system	 ‘SCAN2X’	 was	 also	 implemented	 in	
order	to	automate	the	scanning	requirements	of	ERAs	
Registry	 section.	 System	 will	 be	 integrated	 into	 one	
complete	 point	 to	 point	 system	 from	 paper	 to	 digital	
fully	 text	 searchable	 online	 documents.	 A	 substantial	
number	of	files	have	already	been	successfully	scanned	
through	this	system.

Figure 6

Age Distribution 
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ICT	team	has	also	been	actively	involved	in	the	design	
of	 a	 fully	 digital	 integrated	Purchase	Request	 System	
(PRS)	incorporating	actual	approval	and	issuing	process	
which	 is	 intended	 to	 replace	 the	 traditional	 paper-
based	PO	system.	System	should	be	 ready	 for	 launch	
by	early	Q2,	2020.

3.3 Administration 
The	 Administration	 Unit	 continued	 to	 cater	 for	 the	
Authority’s	 daily	 support	 and	 maintenance	 operations	
both	 within	 Hexagon	 House	 but	 also	 throughout	
all	 the	 other	 locations	 owned,	 used	 /	 leased.	 These	
responsibilities	 also	 include	 project	 implementation,	
procurement,	 registry,	 front	 office,	 general	 support	
services	and	health	&	safety.	

Activities linked to Project Implementation involved:
EU Funded projects – hands-on	 support	 in	 the	
compilation	of	the	Structural	Reform	Support	Programme	
-	[SRSP]	and,	the	CORALLO	project	applications,	as	well	
as	 administrative	 assistance	 to	 ERAs	 technical	 units	
towards	 the	 implementation	 of	 the	 following	 five	 (5)	
projects:
•	 Waste	Management	Intelligent	Systems	and	Policies	
(WINPOL);

•	 Consortium	 for	 a	 Coherent	 European	 Landfill	
Management	Strategy	(COCOON);

•	 HARMONY	Project;
•	 LIFE	IPE	16	RBMP;	and
•	 EMFF	Project.

National Funded Projects –	oversaw	the	completion	of	
extensive	 refurbishment	works	within	Hexagon	House	
Ground	Floor	(East	Wing)	area,	incorporating	a	state-of-
the-art	Boardroom	able	to	cater	for	the	hosting	of	public	
conferences	/	meetings	in	addition	to	the	regular	Board	/	
internal	meetings.	Wing	also	includes	various	amenities	
such	 as	 a	 dedicated	 sound	 room,	 sick	 bay,	 multiple	
sanitary	 as	well	 as	 kitchen	 facilities.	 Initial	 preparatory	

groundwork	was	 conducted	 relating	 to	 several	 planned	
projects	 such	 as	 the	 refurbishment	 of	 Spencer	 Garden	
grounds,	 modification	 of	 	 Hexagon	 House	 vehicular	
entrance	 and	 improving	 parking	 facilities,	 construction	
of	 additional	 floors	 to	 increase	work	 space	 capacity	 at	
Hexagon	House,	completion	of	a	professional	laboratory	
/	 workshop	 and,	 the	 upgrading	 of	 the	 Authority’s’	 air	
monitoring	stations	located	in	Malta	and	Gozo.

Procurement and Travel Services –	Requirements	of	the	
Authority	in	these	areas	have	continued	to	grow	and	circa	
twenty-three	(23)	calls	for	tenders	and	eighteen	(18)	calls	
for	quotations	were	compiled	and	published.	Furthermore,	
361	 travel	 arrangements	 were	 handled	 including	 the	
calculation	 of	 per	 diem	 money	 and	 logistical	 services	
during	conferences	carried	out	both	 locally	and	abroad.	
Focus	on	the	introduction	of	new	working	practices	and	
updating	 existing	 policies	 aimed	 at	 further	 improving	
efficiency	and	cost	effectiveness	was	paramount	during	
2019.

Support Services and Health & Safety –	 several	
procedures	 and	 risk	 assessments	 have	 been	 designed,	
drawn-up	and	implemented	in	order	to	ensure	that	ERA’s	
obligations	and	commitments	are	in	line	with	the	national	
Occupational	Health	and	Safety	legislation.	These	efforts	
included	the	provision	of	adequate	vaccination,	protective	
clothing	and	equipment,	yearly	eyesight	examination,	and	
the	coordination	of	specialised	training	to	ERA	Officers.	
Technical	 expertise	 and	 continuous	 coordination	 were	
provided	 throughout	 the	 implementation	 process	 of	
several	national	funded	projects.

Registry	 –	 this	 field	 is	 considered	 as	 being	 a	 major	
function	within	the	Authority.	It	caters	for	the	review	and	
storage	as	well	as	 the	creation	and	monitoring	of	ERAs	
archives	 and	documents	 along	with	various	 procedures	
and	 policies	 linked	 to	 documentation	 workflows	 and	
management.	 Since	 2018	 a	 holistic	 exercise	 was	
initiated	aimed	at	efficiently	 stock-taking,	 scanning	and	
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Figure 7
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archiving	existing	documentation	through	standardized	
procedures	and	professional	storage	techniques.	A	total	
number	of	11,372	files	have	already	been	scanned	and	
processed	to	date.	During	this	year	ERA’s	brand	name/
logo	was	 also	 formally	 registered	with	 the	 Commerce	
Department,	 Industrial	 Property	 Registrations	
Directorate.	 This	 team	 has	 also	 overseen	 ERAs	 front	
desk	reception	needs	including	the	handling	of	incoming	
generic	calls	and	mail.	During	this	year,	the	Authority’s	

IVR	system	handled	over	4500	calls,	50%	of	which	were	
directly	 serviced	 by	 this	 team	whilst	 the	 others	 were	
routed	to	other	specialized	units	within	ERA.	Meantime	
the	 amount	of	 inbound	mail	 handled	has	 increased	by	
10%,	basically	 about	7,6605	 items,	namely	 since	most	
applications	 are	 now	 being	 channelled	 through	 our	
e-forms	 gateways.	 On	 the	 other	 hand,	 outbound	mail	
volumes	 registered	 an	 increase	 of	 15.5%,	 to	 12,900	
items.	 	Unfortunately,	 increases	 in	postage	tariffs	have	
resulted	 in	 a	 significant	 higher	 overhead	 in	 the	 region	
of	132%	i.e.	from	€8,794.84	in	2018	to	€20,384.07	in	
2019.

Social Corporate Responsibility and Team Building 
Activities –	with	 the	 support	of	 the	UNITE!	Team	and	
the	 backing	 of	 ERA	 Management,	 the	 Administration	
unit	 has	 managed	 to	 organise	 various	 social	 activities	
aimed	 at	 promoting	 a	 healthy	workplace	 environment	
and	to	producing	an	overall	positive	 impact	on	society	
such	as:
•	 Blood	and	Organ	Donation;
•	 Summer	Gathering;
•	 Pink	October	Dress	Down	and	Pancakes;
•	 Christmas	Themed		Dress	Down;	and
•	 Christmas	and	team	building	activities.

3.4 Finance
3.4.1 General
The	Corporate	Services	Directorate	 is	 responsible	 for	
the	Finance	function	of	the	Authority.		The	Finance	Unit	
compiles	and	presents	monthly	Management	Accounts	
and	Financial	Analysis	Reports	of	the	Authority	to	the	
Board	 Members	 along	 with	 relative	 trend	 analysis	
against	previous	year	figures	and	budget	parameters.	

Details of main revenue sources Actual YTD 2019   €

Processing	of	Shipments	of	Waste	Annex	VII 61,495

Processing	of	Shipments	of	Waste	Notification/TFS 137,270

Disposal	of	Waste	and	Rubble 16,066

Fees,	Medium	Combustion	Plants 6,380

Cites	and	Consignment	notes 17,842

Fines	from	C&E 159,867

Producer	Responsibility	Registration	(WEE) 59,025

IPPS	Fees 40,200

Total 498,145

Table 4

Anacamptis urvilleana -  Maltese pyramidal orchid
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Finance	 Unit	 has	 drawn	 up	 an	 Annual	 Operational	
Budget	 and	 a	 3-year	 Business	 Financial	 Plan	 for	 the	
Authority.	 This	 was	 achieved	 through	 workings	 and	
collated	data	resulting	through	close	coordination	with	
all	the	other	Units	within	the	Authority.		Results	will	be	
duly	forwarded	to	MFIN	for	review	and	approval.	

The	 Finance	 Unit	 also	 prepares	 analysis	 reports	 upon	
request	 by	 Top	 Management,	 covering	 revenue	 and	
expenditure	and	acts	as	a	point	of	reference	for	the	other	
Corporate	 Services	Units	 namely	with	 Procurement	 in	
order	to	review	problems	relating	to	payments,	deliveries	
and	credit	notes.

During	 the	year	 the	Finance	Unit	 actively	 assisted	 the	
auditors	in	connection	with	the	year-end	Financial	Audit,	
as	well	as	the	auditors	from	the	National	Audit	office.

A	 highly	 effective	 Budget	 Codes	 system	 initially	
implemented	 in	 2017	 aimed	 at	 controlling	 costs	

2019                                             Operating

 																																													€

Opening	Bank	balances 3,482,462

 

Revenue	from	Operations	 498,145

Government	Subvention 12,299,949

Other	Income 368,671

 

 16,649,227

 

 

Less Expenditure during the year

Expenditure	during	the	year -14,382,997

Add

Cash	outflow	overlapping	in	year	2020 2,193,280

Non-cash	items	(Depreciation) 383,874

 

 

 

Closing Bank balances                                                4,843,384

Table 5

whilst	promoting	economy	and	efficiency	 in	outgoings	
continued	 to	 be	 utilized.	 	 This	 system	 is	 targeted	 for	
enhancement	during	2020	aimed	at	 introducing	a	new	
automated	 digitized	 system	 aimed	 at	 reengineering	
current	paper-based	process	into	a	fully-fledged	digital	
online	system.

3.4.2 Revenue
Revenue	from	operations	reached	€498k	whilst	utilized	
Government	subvention	was	approximately	€12.3m.	

Main	 revenue	 originated	 from	 Permitting	 fees	 and	
Enforcement	 fines	 amounting	 to	 €338k	 and	 €159k	
respectively.	 	Breakdown	of	 the	main	 revenue	 items	 is	
depicted	below.	(Table	4)

Discussions	 are	 still	 underway	 aimed	 at	 the	 gradual	
introduction	 of	 new	 environmental	 fees	 during	 the	
coming	 years.	 The	 below	 table	 represents	 a	 detailed	
breakdown	of	ERA’s	cashflow	during	2019.	(Table	5)
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3.4.2 Recurrent Expenditure
The	 Authority’s	 recurrent	 expenditure	 witnessed	 an	
increase	 from	 that	of	previous	year,	 the	bulk	of	which	
was	 contributed	 to	 payroll	which	was	 further	 inflated	
following	signing	of	both	Collective	Agreements	resulting	
in	increased	salary	thresholds	and	gradual	settlement	of	
arrears.	Reserves	were	also	further	 impacted	following	
the	 take-up	of	 the	extensive	 studies	on	 local	quarries.	
On	 a	 positive	 note,	 these	 two	 factors	were	mitigated	
owing	 to	 pre-planned	 allocation	 of	 funds	 during	 the	
previous	year.

3.4.4 Capital Expenditure
ERA	 is	 investing	 heavily	 in	 refurbishing	 and	 upgrading	
all	 the	 premises	 in	 order	 to	 cater	 for	 the	 additional	
employees	and	 to	be	 in	 line	with	Health	&	Safety	and	
other	 regulations.	 	 During	 2019,	 the	 following	 capital	
investments	were	carried	out.	(Figure	8)

Improvements	to	
Leased	Premises

Furniture	and	Fittings

IT	EquipmentOther	Equipment

Electrical	Plumbing	
and	Installations

62,039

118,745

294,48875,917

197,881

Capital 
Expenditure

Figure 8

Cheirolophus crassifolius - Maltese rock-centaury
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Environment & Resources Authority

Authority's Report

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

The Authority present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Principal Activities and Functions

As the environmental and resource regulator in Malta, the Environment and Resources Authority (ERA) is responsible for
the Environment Protection Act (CAP 549). This legislation covers all of the thematic environmental areas including waste,
water, air quality, biodiversity and nature protection, environmental noise, radiation, marine, genetically-modified organisms
and bio-safety, environmental assessment, ozone protection and industry, amongst other things.

ERA is also the competent authority responsible for implementing much of the EU Environment Acquis as well as
international environmental dossiers such as the Aarhus, Espoo and Basel Conventions, as well as the Convention on
Biological Diversity, the Convention on long range Transboundary Air Pollution and Barcelona Convention, amongst others.

ERA is involved in a number of ongoing projects in relation to the conservation of the Marine Environment under the LIFE
programme, and regularly assesses participation in other EU and international project opportunities that can help the
Authority meet its environmental commitments.

From a procedural aspect, ERA is responsible for issuing permits in three different streams - Industrial, Nature and Waste
Management. These are required in order to safeguard the environment from impacts arising from industrial and
anthropogenic activities.

In terms of policy, ERA provides guidance on draft EU Legislation, on behalf of the Ministry for Sustainable Development,
Environment and Climate Change and advises on key environmental matters such as proposed legislation and leads on
public consultation on transposition obligations emanating from EU Directives.

Events After Balance Sheet Date

The Authority has approved a mutually agreed termination of Dr. Louise Spiteri as Chief Executive Officer effective
February 2020. 

On 21 February 2020, a call for application for Chief Executive Officer was issued. Pertinent proceedings leading to the
results and conclusions were fulfilled. Perit Michelle Piccinino has been appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Authority
on 8 May 2020.

No significant events have occurred after the balance sheet date which require mention in this report.

Outlook for Financial Year Ending 31 December 2020

The Authority is not envisaging any changes in its regulatory activities for the forthcoming year. The Members are positive
that the Authority will sustain its current operating strategies and intend to continue to operate in line with the current
business plan. 

Results and Surplus Funds

The financial results of the Authority for the year ended 31 December 2019 are shown on page 7 of the statement of
comprehensive income. 

Related Party Transactions

Details of transactions with related parties undertaken by the Authority during the period are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Disclosure of Information to the Auditor

So far as the Authority is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Authority’s auditor is unaware. The
Authority has taken all the steps that ought to have taken in order to establish that the Authority’s auditor is aware of any
relevant information.

1
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Environment & Resources Authority

Authority's Report (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Board Members

In accordance with Chapter 549 Act, Article 6 (5 and 7), the independent members shall hold office for such period, being
not less than three years, as may be specified in the letter appointing them and if no such period is specified shall remain in
office for three years. The other members of the Authority shall hold office until they are replaced by the Minister, and as
long as they remain public officers.

The Board Members of the Authority who held office during the year were:                                                                   

Prof. Victor Axiak - Chairperson (Appointed on 4th February 2016)
Ms. Carmen Buttigieg - Deputy Chairperson (Appointed on 4th February 2016)
Dr. Jason Bonnici - Member (Appointed on 4th February 2016)
Prof. Alan Deidun - Member (Appointed on 4th February 2016)
Ms. Alexia Pisani - Member (Appointed on 4th February 2016)
Mr. Alan Pulis - Member (Appointed on 4th February 2016)
Prof. Alfred Vella - Member (Appointed on 4th February 2016)
Dr. Simon Mizzi - Member (Appointed on 13th February 2018)
Ms. Marika Sammut Dimech (Appointed on 14th April 2020)
Ms. Joanne Galdes (Appointed on 14th April 2020)

Board Secretaries

Dr. Joseph Gatt (Agreement terminated on 6 March 2020)

Bankers

Bank of Valletta p.l.c
BOV Centre
Cannon Road
Sta Venera SVR 9030
Malta

APS Bank
APS Centre
Tower Street
Birkirkara BKR 4012
Malta

Legal Advisors

Dr. Paula Axiak (Appointed on 22nd November 2017) 

2
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Environment & Resources Authority

Authority's Report (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Statement of Authority's Responsibilities

The Authority acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial statements in accordance with Chapter 549 of the
Environment Protection Act, and to prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Authority at the end of each financial period and of its profit or loss for that period. 

In preparation of the annual financial statements, the Authority is responsible for:

 ensuring that the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with the International Financial

Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU;

 selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;

 making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances;

 ensuring that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to

presume that the company will continue in business as a going concern.

The Authority is responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Authority and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the provisions
of the Act and with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. The Authority is also responsible
for ensuring that an appropriate system of internal control is in operation to provide them with reasonable assurance that
the assets of the Authority are being properly safeguarded and that fraud and other irregularities will be prevented or
detected. 

Auditor

Alan Fiorini, Certified Public Accountant,  has expressed his willingness to continue in office and a resolution for his
reappointment will be proposed.

Approved by the Authority Board on 11 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

_____________________________ ____________________________
Prof. Victor Axiak Perit Michelle Piccinino
Chairperson Chief Executive Officer

Registered Address:

Hexagon House

Spencer Hill

Marsa

MRS 1441

Malta
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Report of Auditor

To the Environment & Resources Authority on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Environment & Resources Authority set out on pages 7 to 23
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019,  the statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in net assets and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

Opinion

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the balance sheet of the Authority as at 31
December 2019, and of its financial performance for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Basis for Opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my
report. I am independent of the Authority in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my
audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders)
Directive issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281) in Malta, and I have fulfilled my other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. I believe that the audit evidence I have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Other Information

The Authority is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Authority's Report. My opinion on
the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon. In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

Based on the work I have performed, in my opinion, the information given in the Authority's Report for the financial year for
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statement.

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Authority and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, I am required to report if I have identified material misstatements in the Authority's Report and other information. I
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Authority

The Authority is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as the Authority determines it necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Authority is responsible for assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Authority either intends to liquidate the Authority or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
so.
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Report of Auditor (continued)

To the Environment & Resources Authority on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, I exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. I also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Authority’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the Authority.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Authority's use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast

significant doubt on the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty

exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence

obtained up to a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.
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Report of Auditor (continued)

To the Environment & Resources Authority on the Audit of the Financial Statements

I communicate with the Authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

This copy of the audit report has been signed by
Alan Fiorini
Certified Public Accountant

Suite 8, Ta' Mallia Buildings,
Triq in-Negozju
Mriehel
BKR 3000

11 September 2020
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Environment & Resources Authority

Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Note

2019

€

2018

€

Revenue 3. 12,620,672 10,373,939

Salaries and personnel expenses 8. (8,341,948) (5,795,198)

Administrative expenses (6,041,051) (2,974,280)

Finance income 5. 47,479 13,026

Other income 4. 489,504 320,518

Income for settlement of demerger
balance

11.b.
- 3,381,299

(Deficit)/surplus before tax (1,225,344) 5,319,304

Taxation 6. - -

(Deficit)/surplus for the year - total
comprehensive income 7. (1,225,344) 5,319,304

The notes on pages 11 to 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Environment & Resources Authority

Statement of Financial Position

As At 31 December 2019

Note

2019

€

2018

€

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 9. 5,725,198 5,360,000

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 10. 1,458,935 1,391,077

Cash and cash equivalents 12.a. 9,029,320 8,691,335

Total current assets 10,488,255 10,082,412

TOTAL ASSETS 16,213,453 15,442,412

Note

2019

€

2018

€

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Accumulated surplus 7,561,117 8,786,461

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11.a. 5,327,190 5,059,346

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11.b. 3,325,146 1,535,118

Bank overdraft 12.b. - 61,487

Total current liabilities 3,325,146 1,596,605

Total liabilities 8,652,336 6,655,951

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 16,213,453 15,442,412

The notes on pages 11 to 23 are an integral part of these financial statements.

These financial statements on pages 7 to 23 were approved by the Authority Board on 11 September 2020 and were signed
on its behalf by: 

_______________________ _________________________
Prof. Victor Axiak Perit Michelle Piccinino
Chairperson Chief Executive Officer
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Environment & Resources Authority

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

2019

Accumulated

Surplus

€

Balance as at 01 January 2019 8,786,461

Comprehensive income

(Deficit)/surplus for the year (1,225,344)

Balance as at 31 December 2019 7,561,117

2018

Accumulated

Surplus

€

Balance as at 01 January 2019 3,467,157

Comprehensive income

Surplus for the year 5,319,304

Balance as at 31 December 2018 8,786,461

The notes on pages 11 to 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Environment & Resources Authority

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Note

2019

€

2018

€

Cash from operating activities:

(Deficit)/surplus before tax (1,225,344) 5,319,304

Interest expense to reconcile to surplus from
operations (47,479) (13,026)

Depreciation 383,874 270,789

Government grants amortised - (12,527)

Income from settlement of amount owed to related
party - (3,381,299)

Surplus from operations (888,949) 2,183,241

Movement in trade and other receivables (67,858) 184,678

Movement in trade and other payables 1,790,028 320,924

Bank interest received 47,479 13,026

Net cash flows from operating activities 880,700 2,701,869

Cash flows from investing activities:

Payments and transfers to acquire property, plant and
equipment (749,072) (1,061,626)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (749,072) (1,061,626)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from long-term loan 267,844 (541,754)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 267,844 (541,754)

Net cash from in cash and cash equivalents 399,472 1,098,489

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8,629,848 7,531,359

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12.a. 9,029,320 8,629,848

The notes on pages 11 to 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

1. Basis of preparation

a. Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared and presented in accordance with the requirements of the
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.

b. Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

c. Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in euro (€), which is the Authority's functional currency.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are converted to the functional currency at the rates of
exchange ruling on the dates on which the transactions first qualify for recognition. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at
the exchange rate at that date.  The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and
payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the
end of the period.  Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss.

d. Use of estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the EU requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

a. IFRS compliance and adoption

i. New IFRS standards and interpretations not applied

During the year, certain standards and interpretations have been issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committees with effective
dates relating to the accounting periods starting on or after 1 January 2019.

The adoption of these standards and interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the
financial statements of Environment & Resources Authority in the period they are applied.

ii. Early adoption of IFRS standard

During the year, Environment & Resources Authority has elected to adopt early certain standards and
interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committees to the 2019 financial statements.
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Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

a. IFRS compliance and adoption (continued)

ii. Early adoption of IFRS standard (continued)

The standards and interpretations have been applied retrospectively.  The adoption of these standards
and interpretations did not have a material impact on the financial statements of Environment &
Resources Authority in the period they are applied.

b. Property, plant and equipment

i. Value Method

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any other costs
directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, and the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located.

ii. Depreciation

Depreciation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment, and major components are accounted
for separately. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Air conditioners 16.67%

Leasehold premises 1.2%

Leasehold improvements 5%

Lifts 10%

Furniture and fixtures 15%

Motor vehicles 20%

Electrical, plumbing & installations 6.67%

Computer equipment & software 20%

Other equipment 20%

Gains and losses on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount at the date of
disposal.  The gains or losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as other
operating income or other operating costs, respectively.

c. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.  A provision for impairment of trade receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect all amounts due to the
original terms of the receivables.

d. Trade payables

Trade and other payables are stated at cost, which approximates fair value due to the short term nature of
these liabilities.

12
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Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

e. Revenue recognition

i. Subvention of Government/Funding of Environmental Fee

Subvention or funding available to cover recurrent expenditure are reflected in the Authority's profit or
loss and are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that all conditions attaching to them are
complied with and the subventions will be received.

ii. Government Grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that all the conditions attaching
to them are recognised as income over the periods necessary  to match the grant on a systematic basis
and to the cost that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant related to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to the statement of comprehensive income over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by annual equal annual installments.

iii. Interest Income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method).  Interest income is
included in finance income in the income statement.

f. Impairment

i. Financial Assets

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events
have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.  An impairment loss in
respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate.  An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated
by reference to its current fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis.  The remaining
financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk circumstances.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  Any cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-
sale financial asset recognised previously in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised.  For financial assets measured at cost and available-for-sale financial
assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.  For available-for-sale financial
assets that are equity securities, the reversal is recognised directly in equity.  

ii. Non-financial Assets

The carrying amount of the Authority's non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If such indication exists then the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds
its recoverable amount.  A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group that generates cash
flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups.  Impairment losses are recognised in
profit or loss.
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Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

f. Impairment (continued)

ii. Non-financial Assets (continued)

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less cost to sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only
to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

g. Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes.  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

An application to the tax authorities has been submitted by the Authority to register the tax exempt status. Due
to this application, the Authority does not provide for tax at 35% in its financial statements.

h. Financial instruments

i. Non-derivative Financial Instrument

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise in trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value.  Subsequent to initial
recognition non-derivative financial instruments are measured as described below.

A financial instrument is recognised if the Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.  Financial assets are derecognised if the Authority's contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial assets expire or if the Authority transfers the financial asset to another party without
retaining control of substantially all risks and rewards of the asset.  Regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.e., the date that the Authority commits itself to
purchase or sell the asset.  Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Authority's obligations specified in
the contract expire  or are discharged or cancelled. 
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Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

i. Employee benefits

The Authority contributes towards the state pension in accordance with the local legislation.  The only obligation
of the Authority is to make the required contributions. Obligations for contributions are recognised as employee
benefits expenses in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by the employees.

j. Contingencies

Contingent liabilities incurred by the Authority are not recognised but disclosed unless the possibility of an
outflow or resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities represent possible obligations that arise from past events whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the entity and are not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation. Moreover, the amount of the obligation cannot be measured within sufficient
reliability.

Inevitably, the determination that the possibility that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is
remote and that the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events is not wholly within
the control of the Authority requires significant judgemental.

k. Financial risk management

The Authority's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk.  The Authority's overall
risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Authority's financial performance. The Authority does not have components of equity.

The Authority Board has responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Authority's risk management
framework. No transactions in derivative financial instruments are entered into by the Authority to manage risks.
The most significant financial risks that the Authority is exposed to are described below.

i. Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates
will affect the Authority's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimising the return.

ii. Credit Risk

Financial assets which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consist
principally of cash at bank and receivables. The Authority's cash is placed in prime financial institutions.
Receivables are presented net of impairment provision. The Authority has policies in place to ensure
that credit sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. Credit risk with respect to
debts is limited. The Authority has no concentration of credit risk that could materially impact on the
sustainability of its operations. 

iii. Liquidity Risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close
out market positions.

15



16						Annual	Report	and	Financial	Statements

Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

k. Financial risk management (continued)

iii. Liquidity Risk (continued)

The Authority monitors liquidity risk by reviewing expected cash flows and ensure that no additional
financing facilities are expected to be required over the coming year. The Authority's liquidity risk is not
deemed material in view of the matching of cash inflows and outflows arising from expected maturities of
financial instruments and commitments.

iv. Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The presentation of the financial statements and liabilities under the current and non-current headings
within the statement of financial position is intended to indicate the timing in which cash flows will arise.

The Authority is exposed to interest rate risk on its bank balances. In view of the low market interest
rates, a change in current market interest rates as at the reporting date would not have a material effect
on profit or loss.

l. Capital risk management

The Authority's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern and
to maximize the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Authority manages the capital structure and make adjustments to it, in light of the changes in economic
conditions. The capital structure is reviewed on an ongoing basis.

3. Revenue

2019

€

2018

€

Environmental fees 12,299,949 9,963,226

Procurement of shipment wastes 198,015 218,530

Fees for IPPC, waste and other permits 41,237 153,538

Producer Responsibility Registration (WEEE) 65,405 33,730

EU-funded projects - 4,915

Monitoring for waste disposal 16,066 -

Total 12,620,672 10,373,939
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Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

4. Other income

2019

€

2018

€

Fees 151,507 52,450

Salary recoveries 284,095 142,285

Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna & Flora 16,805 3,060

Government grant income - 12,527

Adverts recharged 1,247 3,590

Other income 35,850 106,606

Total 489,504 320,518

5. Finance income

2019

€

2018

€

Interest income 47,479 13,026

6. Taxation

In accordance with Article 30 of the Environment Protection Act, 2016, the Authority is exempt from any liability for the
payment of any tax on income or duty on documents for the time being in force in Malta.

7. (Deficit)/surplus for the year

Surplus is stated after charging the following:

2019

€

2018

€

Auditor's remuneration 5,355 5,100

Board Honoraria 174,096 173,164

Depreciation 383,874 270,788

8. Salaries and personnel expenses

a. Wages and Salaries

Payroll costs for the year comprise of the following:

2019

€

2018

€

Wages and salaries 7,903,905 5,398,374

Social security costs 438,043 396,824

Total 8,341,948 5,795,198

In 2019, the Authority has recognized arrears in salaries occurring from the new Collective Agreement where a
new salary structure has been introduced.
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Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

8. Salaries and personnel expenses (continued)

b. Average number of employees

The average number of persons employed by the Authority during the year was as follows:

2019 2018

Officers 230 200

Total 230 200

c. Number of board members and board secretary

2019 2018

Board members 10 10

Board secretary 1 1

Total 11 11

9. Property, plant and equipment

31 December 2019

Air

conditioners

€

Leasehold

premises and

improvements

€

Lifts

€

Furniture

and

fixtures

€

Motor

vehicles

€

Electrical

and

plumbing

€

Computer

equipment

and

software

€

Other

equipment

€

Total

€

Cost

Opening balance 215,185 4,699,468 41,204 237,426 128,842 165,901 1,013,851 2,530,905 9,032,782

Additions - 62,040 - 118,746 - 197,881 294,488 75,917 749,072

Disposals - - - - - - (30,520) - (30,520)

Balance at 31 December 2019
215,185 4,761,508 41,204 356,172 128,842 363,782 1,277,819 2,606,822 9,751,334

Depreciation

Opening balance (8,869) (596,006) (9,268) (135,680) (69,504) (9,318) (356,705) (2,487,432) (3,672,782)

Disposals - - - - - - 30,520 - 30,520

Depreciation (35,866) (73,741) (4,122) (25,150) (12,069) (18,302) (193,259) (21,365) (383,874)

Balance at 31 December 2019
(44,735) (669,747) (13,390) (160,830) (81,573) (27,620) (519,444) (2,508,797) (4,026,136)

Carrying amount

At 01 January 2019
206,316 4,103,462 31,936 101,746 59,338 156,583 657,146 43,473 5,360,000

At 31 December 2019
170,450 4,091,761 27,814 195,342 47,269 336,162 758,375 98,025 5,725,198
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Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

9. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

31 December 2018

Air

conditioners

€

Leasehold

premises and

improvements

€

Lifts

€

Furniture

and

fixtures

€

Motor

vehicles

€

Electrical

and

plumbing

€

Computer

equipment

and

software

€

Other

equipment

€

Total

€

Cost

Opening balance 724 4,396,719 41,204 143,871 68,500 71,673 726,142 2,522,323 7,971,156

Additions 214,461 302,749 - 93,555 60,342 94,228 287,709 8,582 1,061,626

Balance at 31 December 2018 215,185 4,699,468 41,204 237,426 128,842 165,901 1,013,851 2,530,905 9,032,782

Depreciation

Opening balance (10) (530,261) (5,151) (124,952) (65,875) (1,110) (216,286) (2,458,349) (3,401,994)

Depreciation (8,859) (65,745) (4,117) (10,728) (3,629) (8,208) (140,419) (29,083) (270,788)

Balance at 31 December 2018 (8,869) (596,006) (9,268) (135,680) (69,504) (9,318) (356,705) (2,487,432) (3,672,782)

Carrying amount

At 01 January 2019 714 3,866,458 36,053 18,919 2,625 70,563 509,856 63,974 4,569,162

At 31 December 2018 206,316 4,103,462 31,936 101,746 59,338 156,583 657,146 43,473 5,360,000

10. Trade and other receivables

2019

€

2018

€

Trade receivables 119,491 92,222

Deposits 1,150,164 1,092,216

Funds due from Treasury 130,002 130,002

Prepayments 49,995 43,295

Other receivables 9,283 33,342

Total 1,458,935 1,391,077

Note:
Other receivables consist of an EU-Funded project for which the Authority is the coordinating beneficiary, responsible
for overall management and coordination of the project and implementation of certain actions.
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Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

11. Trade and other payables

a. Non-current liabilities

2019

€

2018

€

EIPP/General Fund (Note ii) 4,497,630 4,031,681

Hunting Fund deposited with ERA 387,962 1,004,628

Funds deposited with ERA 441,598 23,037

Total 5,327,190 5,059,346

b. Current liabilities

2019

€

2018

€

Trade payables 1,231,037 430,153

Accruals 2,094,109 390,060

Taxes and social security - 714,905

Total 3,325,146 1,535,118

Note i: Amounts owed to related party
This amount represents the outstanding liabilities to the Planning Authority (PA), following a cost apportionment
methodology applied. The Ministry for Sustainable Development, the Environment and Climate Change, committed
towards the provision of such amount in the 2018 Financial Estimates of Government. 

During 2018, the full amount was settled by the MFIN to PA by allocating a contribution to PA for the full amount owed
in the MFIN Budget 2018.  

Note ii: Environment Initiatives in Partnership Programme (EIPP)/General Fund
This fund was managed by MEPA prior to the demerger. These funds were collected through development planning
applications as planning gain to sustain environmental projects and studies and cater for environmental mitigation
measures.  This fund was transferred to the Authority on the 5th December 2016 and is being used for current
undertakings and projects in the pipeline.

Note iii: Deferred income (Government grants)
Deferred income represents the Government grants received to fund the purchase of property, plant and equipment
owned by the authority. Each year, an amount equivalent to the depreciation charged on these assets is transferred to
profit and loss.
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Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

11. Trade and other payables (continued)

Deferred income (Government grants)

2019

€

2018

€

Historic cost

Opening balance 1,343,546 1,343,546

Amounts granted during the period - -

Total 1,343,546 1,343,546

2019

€

2018

€

Released to the income statement

Opening balance 1,343,546 1,331,019

Amounts released during the period (Note 4) - 12,527

Total 1,343,546 1,343,546

2019

€

2018

€

Deferred income - Government Grants

Non-current - -

Total - -

c. EIPP Fund reconciliation

2019

€

2018

€

Opening balance 4,031,682 4,285,665

Inflows 408,000 3,500

Outflows (142,052) (257,483)

2018 Reversal of adjustment 200,000 -

Closing balance 4,497,630 4,031,682
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Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

12. Cash and cash equivalents

a. Cash and cash equivalents

2019

€

2018

€

Cash on hand 3,329 1,410

Bank balances 6,545,991 6,089,925

Short-term deposits 2,480,000 2,600,000

Total cash and cash equivalents 9,029,320 8,691,335

Bank overdraft - 61,487

Total cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 9,029,320 8,629,848

b. Bank overdrafts

Bank overdrafts included under current liabilities on the statement of financial position comprise the following
amounts:

2019

€

2018

€

Bank overdraft - (61,487)

A substantial amount of cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2019, relates to funds advanced to Authority
with respect to the setting up of funds. These funds are to be applied for specific purposes as provided for by the Act.
As at 31 December 2019, an amount of €4,497,630 (2018: €4,031,681) relate to Environment Fund as in accordance
with Chapter 549 of the Environment Protection Act, Article 32. An amount of €387,962 (2018: €1,004,627) is an
amount transferred to the Authority for the purpose of placement within the Hunting Fund, as in accordance with Article
32 (9) which gives the power to the Authority to set up other funds.

13. Related party transactions

The Authority considered the ultimate controlling party to be the Government of Malta who appoints the majority of the
board members.

During the course of the period, the Authority entered into transactions with a number of government entities which are
related through common control.

Key management personnel compensation, consisting of board remunerations, has been disclosed in Note 7.
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Environment & Resources Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

14. Contingencies

Contingent Assets and Liabilities

The Authority holds various bank guarantees arising from the additional agreements made with certain applicants to be
fulfilled before the Authority can issue a full enviroment permit. The Authority also holds bank guarantees arising out of
permit conditions. These guarantees cover any losses which may likely be incurred by the Authority upon non-
compliance of these additional conditions. As at 31 December 2019, the total bank guarantees amount to €13,308,932
(2018: €13,308,932).

The Authority is a defendant in a substantial number of cases instituted by persons claiming damages or remedial
measures from third parties including against the Authority. Based on the information available to the Authority, the
extent of potential liabilities cannot be quantified and no current claims or legal proceedings are deemed to be
exceptional or which could lead to a significant liability falling on the Authority. Therefore, no provision for any claims or
legal proceedings was deemed necessary as at the end of the reporting period. 

23



24						Annual	Report	and	Financial	Statements

Environment & Resources Authority

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Schedules

Schedule of Administrative Expenses

2019

€

2018

€

Administrative expenses

Advertising and promotion 77,305 93,023

Auditor's remuneration 5,355 5,100

Bank charges and interest 3,493 7,403

Cleaning services 40,523 43,219

Consumables 73,187 73,417

Depreciation 383,874 270,788

Remuneration of Board Members 174,096 173,164

Electricity & water 107,504 92,588

Seconded staff costs 51,341 15,771

Insurance 71,667 66,036

Rental fee 20,571 65,019

Legal fees 374 531

Sponsorships 4,843 29,390

Ambient monitoring and data management 89,708 114,366

Printing and stationery 38,099 62,264

Programmes, initiatives and professional fees 3,261,260 849,802

MRA administration 500,000 -

Repairs and maintenance 93,174 40,429

Security 116,968 112,412

Subscriptions, books and postage 16,735 21,218

Telecommunications 45,731 54,571

Travelling 330,195 305,777

Staff training and education 71,205 98,979

Materials, supplies and sundries 14,999 33,859

General and administrative expenses 65,163 15,656

Membership Allowances 3,646 3,770

Professional fees 148,786 97,392

Computer expenses 104,912 76,175

Meetings and conventions 104,061 54,187

Publications and surveys 22,276 97,974

Total 6,041,051 2,974,280
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